The psychometric properties and application of the FRAIL scale and Fried frailty phenotype questionnaire in Japanese community/dwelling older adults

陳, 斯

https://doi.org/10.15017/4059970

出版情報:Kyushu University, 2019, 博士(人間環境学), 課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係: **Doctoral Thesis**

The psychometric properties and application of the FRAIL scale and Fried frailty phenotype questionnaire in Japanese community-dwelling older adults

Si Chen

Thesis submitted to

Graduate School of Human-Environment Studies, Kyushu University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Human-Environment Studies

Department of Behavior and Health Sciences

Graduate School of Human-Environment Studies

Kyushu University

2020

Table of contents

Table of contents	2
Summary	7
Acknowledgement	13
List of papers	15
Abbreviations	16
Chapter 1. Background and purposes of the doctoral thesis	19
1. Background	20
2. Frailty Phenotype model	22
2-1. Fried Frailty Phenotype	22
2-2. Fatigue, Resistance, Ambulation, Illness, Loss of Weight scale	23
2-3. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Index	25
2-4. Program of Research on Integration of Services for the Maintenance of	
Autonomy 7	26
2-5. G érontop âle Frailty Screening Tool	27
2-6. Frailty Instrument from Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement in Europe	28

1. Introduction	47
Japanese community-dwelling older adults (study 1)	46
Chapter 2. Reliability and validity of the FRAIL scale and a modified version in	
8. Purposes of the doctoral thesis	42
7. The utilization of frailty instruments in Japan	41
6. Comparison of various frailty models	39
5. Other frailty instruments	39
4-5. Kihon Checklist	37
4-4. Vulnerable Elders Survey	36
4-3. Groningen Frailty Indicator	35
4-2. Edmonton Frailty Scale	34
4-1. Tilburg Frailty Indicator	33
4. Mixed physical and psychosocial model	33
3. The deficit accumulation model	32
2-7-3. Timed Up-and-Go Test	31
2-7-2. Grip strength	31
2-7-1. Gait speed	30
2-7. Objective measurements	30

2	. Methods	49
	2-1. Study participants	49
	2-2. Frailty screening	50
	2-2-1. Fried Frailty Phenotype	50
	2-2-2. Japanese version of the FRAIL scale	53
	2-2-3. Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire	53
	2-3. Cross-sectional outcome measures	56
	2-4. Other variables	56
	2-5. Statistical analyses	56
3.	. Results	58
	3-1. Participant characteristics	58
	3-2. Reliability	58
	3-3. Construct validity	58
	3-4. Criterion validity	59
4	Discussion	66
5	. Conclusion	71

Chapter 3. Associations of objectively measured patterns of the sedentary behavior and physical activity with frailty status screened by the Japanese FRAIL scale and

Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire in Japanese community-dwelling older adults

(study 2)		
1. Introduction	73	
2. Methods		
2-1. Study participants	76	
2-2. Frailty screening	77	
2-3. Sedentary behavior and physical activity variables	78	
2-3-1. Sedentary behavior variables	79	
2-3-2. Physical activity variables	79	
2-4. Other variables	80	
2-5. Statistical analyses	80	
3. Results	82	
4. Discussion	90	
5. Conclusion	96	

Chapter 4. Using the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire to assess the effects of

an exercise intervention on frailty status in Japanese community-dwelling older

adults (Study 3)	98
1. Introduction	99

2. Method	100
2-1. Study design and participants	100
2-2. Multicomponent exercise intervention	102
2-3. Outcome measurements	104
2-4. Statistical analyses	105
3. Results	106
3-1. Baseline characteristics	106
3-2. Intervention effects on outcomes measurements	106
3-3. Agreement of using the FFP and FFPQ to assess the effect of the interventio	n 107
3-4. Correlations between the change of each item and outcome measurements	107
4. Discussion	113
5. Conclusion	117
Chapter 5. Overall discussion and conclusion	118
References	127

Summary

Background and purposes of the doctoral thesis

Population aging is accelerating worldwide, from 962 million people older than 65 years in 2017 to an estimated 2 billion people by 2050, which put forward the concept of frailty, become one of the hot issues in geriatrics now. Frailty is defined as a medical syndrome characterized by diminished strength, endurance, and reduced physiologic function and increases an individual's risk of increased dependency and/or death. The associations between frailty and increased risk of adverse outcomes such as mortality and hospitalization have been clearly demonstrated. The prevalence of frailty was ranged from 4.0% to 59.1% and the substantial variation in reported prevalence might be explained by the operational definitions for frailty and the inclusion or exclusion criteria varied between researches. At present, lots of frailty instruments based on different purposes and models have been developed to identify frailty status in older adults. Despite the reliability and validity of several instruments such as the Fried frailty phenotype (FFP) and frailty index (FI) have been well-validated, many of them still have not been robustly validated in the literature, and their prognostic ability was rarely

determined. A two-step approach combines a simple self-reported instrument such as the FRAIL scale and a more extensive examination such as FFP together might be an effective way to tackle frailty because both of them based on the same frailty model and have a solid foundation of the biological theoretical basis. The FRAIL scale is performed first in a large-scale setting to screen frailty and followed by the FFP to assess the real condition of an older adult. However, the FRAIL scale has not been validated in Japan for now. Therefore, the primary purposes of this doctoral thesis were 1) to develop a Japanese FRAIL scale (FRAIL-J) and a modified version based on the FRAIL-J named the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (FFPQ) and evaluate the reliability and validity of both questionnaires, and 2) tried to explore an effective application of both questionnaires in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

Study 1: Reliability and validity of the Japanese FRAIL scale and a modified version in Japanese community-dwelling older adults

The aim of this study was to develop a FRAIL-J and an FFPQ and evaluate the reliability and validity of both questionnaires in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Participants of this study were from the baseline survey of the Itoshima Frail Study. A total of 858 older adults aged 65-75 years with available data were included. The FRAIL-J comprises 5 existing items comparable to those in the original FRAIL

scale but with broader utilization in the Japanese health care system. In the FFPO, resistance, ambulation, and loss of weight were the same as those in the FRAIL-J. Fatigue was the same as exhaustion in the FFP and inactivity was assessed using a yes/no question. The FRAIL-J and FFPQ showed low internal consistency (Kuder-Richardson formula 20 coefficients=0.32 and 0.29) and good test-retest reliability (intraclass correlation coefficients=0.79 and 0.72). The correlations ranged from -0.22to 0.49 when correlating each item with cross-sectional outcomes. Using FFP as a criterion, the area under the curve for the FRAIL-J and FFPQ were 0.86 and 0.88, respectively. The optimal cut-off for FRAIL-J was 2, with a higher Youden index (66.7% vs 20.3% for 3) and a high negative predictive value (NPV=99.5%) but a low positive predictive value (PPV=13.1%). As for the FFPQ, either 2 or 3 were evaluated as cut-off because the Youden index (62.2% vs 58.5%) and NPV (99.7% vs 99.2%) were similar although the PPV was low (9.7% vs 33.3%). Using a 2-point cut-off, both questionnaires had a slight agreement with the FFP. The highest agreement (kappa=0.42) was found between FFP and FFPQ using a 3-point cut-off. Accordingly, The FFPQ and FRAIL-J can be used for frailty screening in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

Study 2: Associations of objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behavior with frailty status screened by the Japanese FRAIL scale and Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire in Japanese community-dwelling older adults

This study was conducted to examine the association between objectively measured patterns of sedentary behavior (SB) and physical activity (PA) and frailty status defined by the FRAIL-J and FFPQ in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Data from 65-75 years older adults from the baseline of Itoshima Frail Study were used in the present study. Frailty assessment was performed using the FRAIL-J and FFPQ. SB and PA were measured with an accelerometer. Multinomial logistic regression and receiver operating characteristic curve analyses were used to investigate the associations between SB, PA patterns and frailty status. Of the total 819 older adults, half were male (48.2%). The prevalence of robust, pre-frailty defined by the FRAIL-J and FFPQ were 60.2% vs 50.0%, 27.8% vs 33.3%, and 12.0% vs 16.7%, respectively. Total sedentary time, sedentary time in bouts of ≥ 10 min and ≥ 30 min, and mean sedentary bout duration was not associated with pre-frailty or frailty defined by both questionnaires. On another hand, PA variables including light physical activity (LPA) and moderate-tovigorous physical activity (MVPA) in bouts of < 10 min (sporadic MVPA) were not associated with pre-frailty or frailty defined by both questionnaires, while total MVPA

time and steps were significantly associated with lower prevalence of frailty. In addition, MVPA in bouts of ≥ 10 min (bouted MVPA) was significantly associated with lower prevalence of frailty defined by the FRAIL-J. Moreover, the 43.25 or 51.63 min/day of total MVPA, 9.13 min/day of bouted MVPA, and 3841 or 3702 steps/day of daily step were suggested as the optimal cut-off value to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty for the FRAIL-J and FFPQ, respectively. Our findings demonstrate a strong relationship between higher levels of total MVPA time, steps and frailty screened by the FRAIL-J and FFPQ. Lower amounts of bouted MVPA or steps may be achievable initial targets in older adults for frailty management. This evidence might inform the future of feasible approaches to managing frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

Study 3: Using the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire to assess the effects of an exercise intervention on frailty status in Japanese community-dwelling older adults

The aim of this study was to evaluate whether the FFPQ could be used as an instrument to assess the effect of an exercise intervention on frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. This was a single-group, pre-test, post-test design study. Participants were recruited from the baseline survey of the IFS and a total of 88 with invalid data were included in the final analysis. A set of a multicomponent exercise

intervention program included warm-up, resistance, balance, stretching, and deep breathing exercises (60 minutes, 1 day per week, 6 months) were developed by substantially experienced instructors. In addition, 10-min exercise homework was also asked to be done every day. The exercise intervention was very effective in lowering the frailty score of the FFP and FFPQ. The difference value (95% confidence intervals, 95% CI) of the pre- and post-intervention was -0.68 (-0.83, -0.54) and -0.73 (-0.95, -0.51), respectively. A fair agreement (kappa=0.35) of the intervention effect was found between the two instruments. The item of exhaustion, weakness, slowness, and low physical activity in the FFP and the item of fatigue, resistance, and inactivity in the FFPQ could use to assess the effect of intervention since the change of each item showed the highest correlation with the changes of its corresponding measurements. No significant correlations were found between the change of shrinking in the FFP and ambulation and loss of weight in the FFPQ and the changes of its corresponding measurements. In conclusion, the FFPQ could be used as a rapid instrument to assess the effect of an exercise intervention on frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

Acknowledgement

First of all, let me express my deepest appreciation and sincere gratitude to my primary supervisor, Dr. Shuzo Kumagai. Thank you for giving me a great opportunity to come to Kyushu University to learn and grow. The enduring interest and passion you have for exercise epidemiology are always keeping inspiring me to move forward. Thank you for your continued guidance, support and encouragement throughout the whole Ph.D. I would also like to thank my associate supervisor Dr. Haruhiko Kashiwazaki and Dr. Kenji Masumoto for giving me very constructive comments and suggestions on the draft of my thesis.

Moreover, I would also like to acknowledge all the co-authors of my original studies Dr. Hiro Kishimoto, Dr. Tao Chen, Dr. Yasuo Susaki, and Mr. HarukazeYatsugi for being my kind tutor and friend. Thank all the past and present members and staff of the Health and Exercise Epidemiology Laboratory for their contribution to the research and kind help and support to me. I am grateful for the support of the municipal staff and study participants of Itoshima city. Your support and participation made this project a success. I would also like to take the opportunity to acknowledge the China Scholarship Council and Japan Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology for giving me the scholarship to study abroad at Kyushu University.

Finally and most importantly, I would like to thank my family members and friends, especially my wife, who is my biggest motivation. I hustled straight up to Japan for my studies just 20 days after marriage with her. I believe that though we live far apart from each other, the distance like a golden thread that ties our hearts together. Over the past three years, I owe her too much time and company. After graduated, no matter in favorableness or adversity, wealthy or poor, healthy or sick, I'll keep her by my side, cherish her in all my life.

List of papers

This doctoral thesis consists of the following original publications:

- Chen S., Chen T., Kishimoto H., Susaki Y., and Kumagai S. Development of a Fried frailty phenotype questionnaire (FFPQ) for use in screening community-dwelling older adults. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 2020 Feb; 21(2):272-276.e1.
- Chen S., Chen T., Kishimoto H., Yatsugi H., and Kumagai S. Associations of objectively measured patterns of physical activity and sedentary behavior with frailty status screened by the FRAIL scale in Japanese community dwelling older adults. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, 2020 Mar; 19: 166-174.

Abbreviations

95% CI: 95% Confidence Interval

ASMM: Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass

AUC: Area Under the Curve

BMI: Body Mass Index

DTA: Diagnostic Test Accuracy

EEPA: Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity

EFS: Edmonton Frailty Scale

FFP: Fried Frailty Phenotype

FFPQ: Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire

FI: Frailty Index

FRAIL: Fatigue, Resistance, Ambulation, Illness, Loss of Weight scale

FRAIL-J: Japanese FRAIL scale

GFI: Groningen Frailty Indicator

GFST: G érontop de Frailty Screening Tool

IADL: Instrumental Activities of Daily Living

ICCs: Intraclass Correlation Coefficients

IFS: Itoshima Frail Study

K6: Kessler 6 psychological distress scale

KCL: Kihon Check-List

KR-20: Kuder-Richardson formula 20

LPA: Light Physical Activity

METs: Metabolic Equivalents

MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment

MVPA: Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity

NHANES: National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey

NPV: Negative Predictive Value

PA: Physical Activity

ROC: Receiver Operating characteristic Curve

PPV: Positive Predictive Value

PRISMA-7: Program of Research on Integration of Services for the Maintenance of

Autonomy 7

PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

SB: Sedentary Behavior

SD: Standard Deviation

SHARE-FI: Frailty Instrument from Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement in Europe

SGS: Sasaguri Genkimon Study

SOF: Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Index

SMMI: Skeletal Muscle Mass Index

TFI: Tilburg Frailty Indicator

TST: Total Sedentary Time

TUGT: Timed Up-and-Go Test

VES: Vulnerable Elders Survey

VIF: Variance Inflation Factor

WHO: World Health Organization

Chapter 1. Background and purpose of the doctoral thesis

1. Background

Population aging is accelerating worldwide, from 962 million people older than 65 years in 2017 to an estimated 2 billion people by 2050, which has profound implications for the planning and delivery of health and social care (World Population Prospects, 2017). The aging population promotes the related research of aging and chronic diseases, put forward the concept of frailty, which has now become one of the hot issues in geriatrics. Frailty is the most problematic expression of population aging. It is a state of vulnerability to poor resolution of homeostasis after a stressor event, which may explain by the consequence of the cumulative decline in many physiological systems throughout a lifetime. This cumulative decline depletes homoeostatic reserves until minor stressor events trigger disproportionate changes in health status (Walston et al., 2006). Figure 1 shows the state of vulnerability diagrammatically: an apparently small insult (e.g. a new drug, minor infection, or minor surgery) results in a striking and disproportionate change in health state (e.g. from independent to dependent) (Clegg et al., 2013). Recently, the associations between frailty and increased risk of adverse outcomes such as all-cause mortality (Chang and Lin, 2015), hospitalization (Kojima, 2016), future falls (Kojima, 2015), disability (Vermeiren et al., 2016), cognitive function (Kojima et

al., 2016), and onset of cardiovascular disease (Veronese et al., 2017) have been clearly

demonstrated.



Figure 1. Vulnerability of older adults with frailty to a sudden change in health

status after a minor illness (Clegg et al., 2013)

A previous study reviewed the prevalence of frailty (Collard et al., 2012). Of the total 21 community-based cohort studies of 61,500 elderly people, the prevalence of frailty was ranged from 4.0% to 59.1%. The operational definitions for frailty and the inclusion or exclusion criteria varied between these studies might be explained the substantial variation in reported prevalence of frailty. At present, three major models exist to define frailty: frailty phenotype model; deficit accumulation model; and mixed physical and psychosocial model (Dent et al., 2017). Despite many kinds of instruments based on the above three models were developed to detect frailty, it is notable that the

agreement between different frailty instruments is still very low. Recently, Aguayo et al. (Aguayo et al., 2017) examined the agreement between different frailty instruments in a same sample and found that various frailty instruments identified different individuals as frailty and marked heterogeneity also existed in the degree of frailty. In other words, different frailty instruments are based on different concepts, and most pairs cannot be assumed to be interchangeable. Therefore, when choosing a frailty assessment to use, it is essential to select one, which not only accurately identifies frailty and predicts adverse outcomes, but is also simple to use, well-validated, and accounts for the priorities, resources, and objectives of a specific population. This chapter summarized the reliability, validity, target population, strength and limitation of various frailty instruments that were developed to assess frailty.

2. Frailty Phenotype model

2-1 Fried Frailty Phenotype (FFP or Cardiovascular Health Study index)

In 2001, Fried et al. (Fried et al., 2001), through 5000 older adults aged 65 years or older from Cardiovascular Health Study, first proposed the definition of frailty using five major manifestation, defining the condition as the presence of three or more of: (1) unintentional weight loss (10 lbs in past year); (2) self-reported exhaustion; (3)

weakness (grip strength); (4) slow walking speed; and (5) low physical activity. The phenotypic score has a solid foundation of biological theoretical basis (Fried et al., 2001, Xue et al., 2008) and has been most widely used in multiple epidemiological settings to confirm its predictive validity of adverse outcomes (Avila-Funes et al., 2009, Avila-Funes et al., 2008, Chang and Lin, 2015, Makizako, 2017, Mossello et al., 2016, vermeulen, 2011). It is notable that the FFP often has been modified, and these modifications have an important impact on its classification and predictive ability (Theou et al., 2015). Despite its widespread use, the changes of the five indicators cannot provide direct information for their etiology and require a specialized person to measure. Therefore, it is difficult to self-evaluation and uses for screening frailty in a large-scale epidemiological setting. Another major factor inhibiting the application of the FFP is that it excludes some diseases such as Parkinson, Alzheimer's, stroke, depression.

2-2 Fatigue, Resistance, Ambulation, Illness, Loss of Weight (FRAIL) scale

The FRAIL scale was proposed by the International Association of Nutrition and Ageing in 2008 and considered a suitable instrument for screening older adults with frailty (Abellan van Kan et al., 2008). The FRAIL scale is comprised of five components: fatigue, resistance, ambulation, illness, and loss of weight. The total score ranges from 0-5 (i.e., 1 point for each component; 0= best to 5= worst), and a score of 0 represents participants as robust, 1 to 2 as pre-frail, and 3 to 5 as frail. In contrast with the FFP, the FRAIL scale is brief, cost-effective, and easy to score and interpret, which makes it feasible to perform by telephone at frequent intervals in a large-scale epidemiological setting (Morley et al., 2012). Moreover, it is notable that the FRAIL scale is comparable to more complex measurements such as the FFP and frailty index in predicting mortality and disability (Malmstrom et al., 2014, Ravindrarajah et al., 2013). Until 2010, the FRAIL scale has first been validated in older men in Australia (Hyde et al., 2010). Since then, it has been gradually verified by many countries includes the United States (Morley et al., 2012), China (Dong et al., 2018, Woo et al., 2012), Brazil (Aprahamian et al., 2017a), Korea (Jung et al., 2016), Mexico (Diaz de Leon Gonzalez et al., 2016, Rosas-Carrasco et al., 2016), and European countries (Theou et al., 2013a). Although the FRAIL scale is also known as the rapid screening tool for physical frailty (Dent et al., 2017), the controversy regarding the item of illness still surrounded it. There is broad consensus has been reached that frailty is not synonymous with either comorbidity or disability, the inclusion of the illness category in the FRAIL scale may threaten its face validity as a physical frailty screening instrument. Besides, the type or severity of disease was not exactly defined. Although Morley et al. (Morley et al., 2012)

made a definition of illness and it was used in many studies, there were still some studies using different kinds of diseases (Hyde et al., 2010, Susanto et al., 2018, Theou et al., 2013a). Last, as professional and structural deficiencies in the health care system in the developing nations which also face the aging, it is not easy for older adults to know whether they have had several diseases will also limit its part feasibility.

2-3 Study of Osteoporotic Fractures (SOF) Index

In 2007, Ensurd et al. (Ensrud et al., 2007) according to the study of elderly women with osteoporotic fracture proposed a more simple frailty instrument, the SOF index. The SOF index is comprised of three components: (1) 5% body weight loss in the last year; (2) do you feel full of energy; (3) inability to perform a chair rise five times and frailty is classified as the presence of \geq 2 components. Similar to the FFP, the SOF index also has an underlying biological causative theory and the predictive validity of the SOF index such as falls, disability, fractures, and mortality has been observed in community-dwelling older adults (Bilotta et al., 2012, Ensrud et al., 2009) and medical inpatients (Forti et al., 2014). Moreover, the SOF is more simple, easy to operate and suitable for population screening and clinical assessment. However, just like the FFP, the SOF index also requires objective measure and patients with an acute medical condition often cannot perform a five times chair rise. Therefore, SOF does not apply to patients hospitalized for an acute illness or to large-scale epidemiological settings.

<u>2-4 Program of Research on Integration of Services for the Maintenance of Autonomy 7</u> (PRISMA-7)

The PRISMA-7 is primly designed to screen older adults for potential disability (Raiche et al., 2008). It contains 7 simple self-reported components to identify frailty: (1) older than 85 years; (2) male; (3) health problems which limit activities; (4) support of another person needed; (5) health problems requiring staying at home; (6) social support; (7) use of a cane or walker or wheelchair. Older adults with a total score of more than 3 points are classified as frailty. A recent study investigated the diagnostic test accuracy (DTA) of seven simple instruments for identifying frailty in community-dwelling older adults. The results showed that PRISMA-7 had high sensitivity (83%) for identifying frailty (Clegg et al., 2015). Moreover, the PRISMA-7 shows high-level accuracy (area under the curve, AUC) in identifying frailty and suggested a 4-point score as the cut-off value with high sensitivity (81.5%) and specificity (88.2%) for frailty in communitydwelling older adults (Yaman and Unal, 2018). In addition to the community-dwelling setting, the DTA of PRISMA-7 is also well examined in primary care (Hoogendijk et al., 2013, Sutorius et al., 2016) and the emergency department (O'Caoimh and Costello,

2019). Compare to other frailty instruments, screening for frailty in the primary care and emergency department with the PRISMA-7, is reliable and accurate. However, the limited specificity in previous studies implies many false-positive results which means that it cannot be used as accurate single tests to screen frailty in large-scale epidemiological settings. Moreover, the PRISMA-7 has a tendency to over-screen for frailty thereby limiting its ability as a screening tool (Clegg et al., 2015). In addition, almost a decade past after the PRISMA-7 has been developed, almost all studies focused on the DTA of the PRISMA-7, it still has previously less evidence regarding the predictive validity for adverse outcomes. It should be noted that the PRISMA-7 also includes the item on disability to measure frailty. Although frailty, disability, and comorbidity are inter-related, there are distinct clinical entities.

2-5 G érontop ôle Frailty Screening Tool (GFST)

The GFST is designed as a tool for assisting general practitioners in detecting nondisabled frail older adults among community-dwelling elderly ≥ 65 years old with basic activities of daily living. It comprises two steps: a questionnaire is performed first and followed by a general practitioner's judgment of frailty status (Demougeot et al., 2013, Vellas et al., 2013). The questionnaire includes 6 components: (1) living alone; (2) weight loss in the last 3 months; (3) feeling tired in the last 3 months; (4) feeling difficulty to move in the last 3 months; (5) memory complaints; (6) slow gait speed. Frailty status should be considered if got 3 or more "Yes". The GFST combines simple questionnaire and general practitioner's judgment together seems a good way to tackle frailty, however, one main factor which limited its applicability. Despite the GFST highlights the importance of the general practitioner's clinical impression on the frailty diagnosis process, the only clinical impressions may not be sufficient to identify frailty (Fougere et al., 2017). Moreover, it does not give any specific guidance for the general practitioners about how to identify frailty, and its reliability and predictive ability studies have not yet been established.

<u>2-6 Frailty Instrument from Survey of Health, Aging, and Retirement in Europe</u> (SHARE-FI)

The SHARE-FI is developed as a simple instrument for screening frailty approximating based on the FFP definition in aged 50 years and older Europeans (Romero-Ortuno et al., 2010). Just like FFP, the SHARE-FI also has five domains (weight loss, low physical activity, exhaustion, slowness, and weakness) comprising four questions and one measurement: (1) have you not been able to do what you want in the past month due to poor mental state; (2) do you have anorexia or eat less than before; (3) compared with 3 months ago, in the past month is it difficult for you to walk 100 meters or climb staircase; (4) how often do you perform light-to-moderate physical activity such as pruning flowers, cleaning the car or taking a walk; (5) grip strength. Older adults are considered frail if they meet three or more of these criteria and the classification into frailty categories are automatic. A subtype of the SHARE-FI named SHARE-FI75+, which aims to screen older adults with frailty particularly in aged 75 years or more (Romero-Ortuno and Soraghan, 2014). The predictive validity of the SHARE-FI such as mortality and incident disability has been well-validated in community settings (Romero-Ortuno, 2011, Romero-Ortuno et al., 2011, Romero-Ortuno et al., 2010, Theou et al., 2013a). In addition, the convergent and discriminate validity also has been validated in a recent study (McDonagh et al., 2019). Not only in community-dwelling older adults, the SHARE-FI also showed good validity in other different settings (Alonso Salinas et al., 2016, Alonso Salinas et al., 2018, Alonso Salinas et al., 2017, Zhang et al., 2019), however, only has limited predictive ability in the emergency department (Fallon et al., 2018). Indeed, the SHARE-FI is intended to facilitate the rapid frailty instrument rather than replicating FFP in the European community level. A recent study also has shown the SHARE-FI is similar in effectiveness to FFP in screening frailty and predictive mortality in communitydwelling older adults, while the SHARE-FI is considered more specific and easily

manipulated than FPP (Romero-Ortuno, 2013). Compare to FFP, it uses a question to assess slowness instead of gait speed but remains grip strength measurement. Despite the objective measurement maybe make the SHARE-FI more effective in predicting adverse outcomes, it also limited the ability in a large-scale epidemiological setting.

2-7 Objective measurements

A recent systematic review investigated the DTA of simple frailty instruments compare to FFP in community-dwelling older adults (Clegg et al., 2015). The results showed that gait speed and timed up-and-go test have high sensitivity for identifying frailty. However, limited specificity implies many false-positive results make these objective measurements cannot be used as accurate single tests to identify frailty. Moreover, objective measurements cannot be used to reliably identify pre-frail status among older adults.

2-7-1 Gait speed

Gait speed is very valuable for the identification of frailty. It can also replace the complex assessment and enables the elderly to self-test and monitor frailty (Schoon et al., 2014). A recent study comparing the relationship between each of the five items of FFP found that gait speed is the most relevant to frailty (Abizanda et al., 2012, Hoogendijk et al., 2015). Using the value of 0.8 m/s as the cut-off is the optimal to

diagnosis frailty in the primary care setting according to the likelihood ratios of the probability of frailty in patients with and without slow walking speed (Castell et al., 2013).

2-7-2 Grip strength

Grip strength is widely used and it is also an important measurement in FFP and sarcopenia among older adults. Greene et al. (Greene et al., 2014) reported that based on the results of the comprehensive assessment of older adults, according to the frailty defined by the phenotype, the accuracy of using grip strength to distinguish between frailty and non-frailty was less than the timed up-and-go test. However, after the distinction of gender, the accuracy rate reached 77.65%, exceeding the timed up-and-go test. In general, the value of grip strength for frailty is slightly lower than gait speed but also has strong practicality.

2-7-3 Timed Up-and-Go Test (TUGT)

TUGT is generally used to comprehensively reflect the balance of older adults. Previous studies also found that older adults with frailty have a longer time for the TUGT (Chang et al., 2011, Davis et al., 2011). Recent studies found that TUGT (cutoff: 10 s) is a sensitive and specific objective measure can effectively identify the frailty where the full application of FFP is impracticable in older adults (Abizanda et al., 2012, Gobbens and van Assen, 2012, Greene et al., 2014, Savva et al., 2013).

3. The deficit accumulation model

The deficit accumulation model is also known as Frailty Index (FI). The FI was firstly proposed by Rockwood and Mitnitski (Mitnitski et al., 2001) as a way to incorporate the multidimensional nature of frailty into an operational definition. 92 baseline variables of abnormal laboratory values, disease states, disabilities, symptoms, and signs are used to identify frailty. The frailty index is a simple calculation of the presence or absence of each variable as a proportion of the total. For example, an older adult who has 20 deficits present of a possible 92, then the frailty index can be calculated (20 / 92 = 0.22). The cut-off value to define frailty status is suggested by more than 0.25. Rockwood also points out that when FI is 0.67, the human system will be at the critical point of the collapse, even minor stressor events trigger death (Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2006). The FI is one of the two most widely used frailty instruments and it also often has been modified. From the original 92-item to more easier versions (at least 30 items) such as 30-item (Dallmeier et al., 2019), 40-item (Romero-Ortuno and Kenny, 2012, Searle et al., 2008, Song et al., 2010), 46-item (Blodgett et al., 2015b), 57-item (Wallace et al., 2015), and 70-item (Theou et al., 2013b). In contrast with the FFP that modifications of the FFP may impact its classification and predictive ability, the modifications of the FI seem less impact on classification and predictive ability no matter among the community-dwelling older adults or patients. To date, the FI is well-validated and has been applied to multiple settings worldwide. There is a growing body of studies found the FI has a higher predictive ability of adverse clinical events than other frailty instruments in both hospital and community settings (Dent and Perez-Zepeda, 2015, Theou et al., 2013a). Despite this method are easy to understand and has better predictive ability, the FI usually needs to investigate some information derived from the comprehensive geriatric assessment. Therefore, it is difficult to self-evaluate and use for screening frailty in a large-scale epidemiological setting.

4. Mixed physical and psychosocial model

4-1 Tilburg Frailty Indicator (TFI)

The TFI is a self-administered questionnaire developed by Gobbens et al. (Gobbens et al., 2010) based on the conceptual framework of frailty for self-assessment of the debilitating condition of the elderly in the community in the Netherlands during 2010. It

covers 3 aspects contains 15 simple self-reported items: physical components (health, weight loss, difficulty in walking, balance, hearing, vision, gripping and tiredness); psychological factors (memory, feeling down, anxiety and coping); and social elements (living alone, social isolation, social support). Older adults with more than five items are identified as frailty based on a large sample size study (van Assen et al., 2016). A recent systematic review summarized 38 frailty instruments and found that the TFI was the most extensively examined in terms of psychometric properties including face and content validity, internal consistency and test-retest reliability, construct validity (ie, convergent and divergent validity), and predictive validity (Sutton et al., 2016). The TFI is widely used in frailty screening in the community-dwelling older adults in the Netherland. In addition to the Netherland, the TFI is also validated in Brazil (Santiago et al., 2013), Italy (Mulasso et al., 2016), Span (Vrotsou et al., 2018), Turkey (Topcu et al., 2019), Germany (Freitag et al., 2016), Poland (Uchmanowicz et al., 2016), and China (Dong et al., 2017). Although the psychometric properties of the TFI have been extensively examined using in community-dwelling older adults, more studies on the properties in other samples (e.g. hospitalized older adults or patients in an emergency department) are still required. Moreover, only a few studies have determined the predictive power of the TFI for adverse outcomes such as all-cause death. Also of note

is that the weighting of components of the TFI still needs to be further study (Gobbens et al., 2017).

4-2 Edmonton Frailty Scale (EFS)

The EFS is a simple frailty instrument developed by Rolfson et al. (Rolfson et al., 2006) according to a study that investigated 364 older adults aged 65 years or older. It contains nine components including cognition, nutrition, continence, functional independence, functional performance, general health status, mood, polypharmacy, and social support. A score of 0-5 is considered to be robust, 6-7 is apparently vulnerable, 8-9 is mildly frail, 10-11 is moderately frail, and \geq 12 is severely frailty. The EFS is considered as a valid and reliable instrument for assessing frailty in primary and acute care and hospitalized older adults (Amabili et al., 2019, Hilmer et al., 2009, Petty et al., 2006). Although the EFS has been validated in other settings, it is notable that the evidence is only from a few studies. Recently, a Chinese version was developed and used to investigate the factors in Chinese urban communities (Yang et al., 2018). Moreover, Fabricio-Wehbe et al. translated the EFS into Portuguese and assessed the cross-cultural adaptation (Fabricio-Wehbe et al., 2009). Further study still needed to examine the validation and cross-culture adaption in other samples and countries. In addition, the reliability and validity of the EFS have not been well-validated.
4-3 Groningen Frailty Indicator (GFI)

The GFI is originally developed by Steverink et al. (Steverink et al., 2001) and used to assess frailty for the home-dwelling and nursing home settings, with moderate scorer reliability and internal consistency widely used in the Netherland. It contains 15 selfreported items in four dimensions including physical factors (9-items), cognitive component (1-item), social factors (3-items), and psychological components (2-items). The GFI score of 0 to 3 is considered to be robust, and ≥ 4 is classified as frailty (Schuurmans et al. 2004). The reliability and validity of the GFI have been wellvalidated either in the community-dwelling or home-dwelling and institutionalized older adults (Bielderman et al., 2013, Metzelthin et al., 2010, Peters et al., 2015, Peters et al., 2012). Moreover, despite the cross-cultural validation of GFI also has been gradually examined and presented acceptable validity and reliability in a Chinese nursing home residents (Xiang et al., 2019) and German older adults (Braun et al., 2018), the GFI study is mainly confined to the Netherlands and cross-cultural studies are still required in many other countries and settings.

4-4 Vulnerable Elders Survey (VES)

The VES is a self-assessment questionnaire composed of 13 items involves 6 questions on physical function, 5 questions on daily living ability, self-reported health,

and age. VES score \geq 3 is considered to be frailty (Saliba et al., 2001). The VES as a frailty screening tool, the negative predictive value is of great significance (Castagneto et al., 2013). A study translated the VES into Portuguese and found good test-retest reliability and internal consistency (Carneiro et al., 2015). This instrument is now widely used in older cancer and results showed that the VES can be used to predict whether cancer patients were at risk of toxicity during chemotherapy, but the sensitivity and specificity of these studies were inconsistent (Luciani et al., 2015). Moreover, the validity of the VES in predicting adverse outcomes such as disability, institutionalization, and mortality has been validated in a recent study in communitydwelling elderly. The results showed that despite the VES may predict the occurrence of disability, mortality, and institutionalization, the AUC analysis showed that this instrument did not have the good discriminatory ability. Therefore, more studies regarding the validity and reliability of the VES are still needed in many other countries and settings.

4-5 Kihon Checklist (KCL)

The KCL was originally developed by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare to evaluate the eligibility of older individuals for services provided by Long-Term Care Insurance containing 25 items regarding the instrumental and social activity

of living, physical functions, nutritional status, oral function, cognitive function, and depressive mood. In 2011, Ogawa et al. firstly assessed the validity of the KCL based on similar principles to the FI and investigated its biomarkers in older adults (Ogawa et al., 2011). To date, the cut-off point of the KCL that how to define frailty status is still inconsistent. Older adults with a score of 3/4 points were indicated as pre-frail, and 7/8 points were indicated as frailty using the FFP as a standard reference (Satake et al., 2016). Other studies suggest that the total KCL score with more than 7 points indicating general frailty (Sampaio et al., 2015, Yamada et al., 2017). A recent study identified five types of frailty defined by the KCL in community-dwelling older adults: the experience of falling, pre-frailty, oral frailty, housebound and severe frailty (Kera et al., 2017). Therefore, further study is still needed to determine the optimal cut-off point to identify frailty status. Recently, the predictive validity of the KCL has been wellvalidated. A study showed that the predictive ability of the KCL score for physical strength and cognitive function decline in community-dwelling older adults (Fukutomi et al., 2013). Another study found that the classification of frailty status by the KCL (0-3 were classified as robust, 4-7 as pre-frail, and 8 + as frail) could be a significant instrument to predict the incidences of dependency and mortality in older adults (Satake et al., 2019, Satake et al., 2017). Although the original language of the KCL is Japanese

and widely used in Japan, the KCL was already translated into English (Arai and Satake, 2015), Brazilian Portuguese (Sewo Sampaio et al., 2014), Korean (Jang et al., 2017), and Turkish (Esenkaya and Dokuzlar, 2019).

5. Other frailty instruments

Other frailty instruments such as the Easy Care (Craig et al., 2015), Frailty Risk Score (Pijpers et al., 2009), Frailty Trait Scale (Garcia-Garcia et al., 2014), Sherbrooke Postal Questionnaire (Metzelthin et al., 2010), and Clinical Frailty Scale (Rockwood et al., 2005), while not included in this chapter owing to its limited utilization and also have many limitations same as other frailty instruments introduced in the present chapter.

6. Comparison of various frailty models

Presently, no existing frailty instrument is considered to be a gold standard. The absence of consensus on diagnosis frailty resulting in the plethora of instruments currently hampers the implementation of frailty management. Among the existing three major models, the frailty phenotype model mainly focused on physical frailty and the most representative instrument is FFP; the deficit accumulation model is based on the

accumulation of conditions or disabilities, emphasizing the number rather than the nature of deficits; the mixed physical and psychosocial model is also known as the multidimensional model defines frailty as a dynamic state of loss affecting 1 or more domains of function including cognitive, physical, and social areas. Indeed, different frailty models are based on different concepts and should rather be considered as complementary. Aguayo et al. (Aguayo et al., 2017) recently confirmed the point that frailty instruments based on different models identified different individuals as frailty and marked heterogeneity also existed in the degree of frailty. Unfortunately, the three models are often wrongly considered as alternatives or assumed to be interchangeable. Indeed, compare to the deficit accumulation model, the frailty phenotype model and multidimensional model are easier to operate and discriminates broad levels of risk. On the other hand, while the deficit accumulation model requires additional clinical information makes the risk of adverse outcomes to be defined more precisely in contrast the frailty phenotype model and multidimensional model. Therefore, the to combined/sequential use of these models is advisable because they provide distinct and complementary information about the risk profile of older adults. For instance, using the FRAIL scale or TFI as the first step to screening potential frail older adults in a largescale setting, then using the FI or more extensive examinations such as Comprehensive

Geriatric Assessment or FFP to assess the detailed status of an older adult and provide a corresponding suggestion.

7. The utilization of frailty instruments in Japan

The aging population in Japan is increasing more rapidly than that of any other country in the world. According to the governmental report, by 2060, 40% of the entire population in Japan will be aged 65 years or older (Japan National Institute of Population and Social Security Research, 2012). Therefore, develop effective methods to manage frailty status are urgently required particularly in Japan. Using which model or instrument to define frailty status is the first knotty problem to be deal with. There is a growing body of studies investigating various areas of frailty such as risk factors and the associations with adverse outcomes. No doubt, the most widely used frailty instrument is the FFP. A recent meta-analyses showed that the pooled prevalence of frailty based on FFP in Japan was 7.4% and the age-stratified prevalence was 1.9%, 3.8%, 10.0%, 20.4%, and 35.1% for those aged 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, and 85 years and older, respectively (Kojima et al., 2017). In addition to the FFP, two instruments have been developed and used in Japan for identifying vulnerable older adults with high risks of adverse health outcomes, such as long-term care or disability.

One is the KCL which has been introduced in the present chapter, another one is the Kaigo-Yobo Checklist, which is a 15-item questionnaire to identify older adults at high risk of in need of long-term care (Shinkai et al., 2010). Although these two instruments have good accuracy to screen the FFP indicated its potential ability to screen frailty, the main limitation is its concept. The two instruments were originally aimed to screen older adults with the risk of disability or long-term care. However, there is broad consensus has been reached that frailty is not synonymous with disability. Thus, the different theoretical models or constructs of the two instruments limit its ability to screen older adults with the FFP. They are more close to the definition of FI rather than the FFP, however, less previous studies investigate the diagnostic test accuracy of the two instruments with the FI.

8. Purposes of the doctoral thesis

To sum up, there are lots of frailty instruments based on different purposes and models developed to identify frailty in older adults. Despite the reliability and validity of many of these instruments had been validated, there are still have many frailty instruments that had not been robustly validated in the literature, and their prognostic ability was rarely determined. A two-step approach combines a simple self-reported instrument such as the FRAIL scale or TFI and a more extensive examination such as FFP or FI together might be an effective way to tackle frailty. Among the various frailty instruments, the combination of the FRAIL scale and FFP might be a better one because both of them based on the same model and have a solid foundation of the biological theoretical basis. The FRAIL scale is performed first in a large-scale setting to screen frailty and followed by the FFP to assess the real condition of an adult. However, the FRAIL scale has not been validated in Japan for now. Therefore, the primary purposes of this doctoral thesis were to develop a Japanese FRAIL scale (FRAIL-J) and a modified version based on the FRAIL-J named the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (FFPQ) and evaluate the reliability and validity of both questionnaires, and tried to explore an effective application of both questionnaires in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Accordingly, the present thesis had three objectives. The first objectives were to develop a Japanese FRAIL scale and tried to modify it to make the FRAIL scale more close to the FFP, then to evaluate the reliability and validity of both scales in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (Study 1 in Chapter 2). The second objective was to investigate the association between lifestyle factors, particularly the objectively daily physical activity, and frailty defined by the FRAIL-J and FFPQ in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (Study 2 in Chapter 3). The

third objective was to examine whether the FFPQ can be used to assess the effects of an exercise intervention on frailty status in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (Study 3 in Chapter4).

Table	1.	Com	parisons	of	frailty	instruments
14010		~~~		•		

Instruments	Components	Diagnosis	Reliability	Validity	Limitation
FFP	Shrinking, exhaustion, slowness, weakness, low physical activity, total of 5 score	≥ 3	None	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Needs objective measurements and population reference values
FRAIL	Fatigue, resistance, ambulation, illness, loss of weight, total of 5 score	≥ 3	Test-retest reliability Internal consistency	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Illness item may threaten the face validity
SOF	Weight loss, exhaustion, unable to rise from chair 5 times, total of 5 score	≥ 2	None	Predictive validity	Needs objective measurement; cannot screen pre- frailty
PRISMA-7	Age, male, social support, and ADLs, total 7 items, total of 7 score	≥ 3	Test-retest reliability	Concurrent validity	Including item of disability and has less evidence regarding the predictive validity
GFST	(i)self-report; (ii) clinical judgment	Not clear	None	None	Less evidence regarding the predictive validity
SHARE-FI	Weight loss, low physical activity, exhaustion, slowness, weakness, total of 5 score	≥ 3	None	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Needs objective measurement and population reference value
FI	At least 30 items, accumulated health deficits: score of 0 (no deficits) to 1.0 (all deficits)	> 0.25	None	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Needs information derived from the comprehensive geriatric assessment; cannot screen pre-frailty
TFI	Physical, psychological and social aspects (15 items), total of 15 score	Not clear	Test-retest reliability Internal consistency	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Less evidence regarding the predictive validity; the weighting of each aspect; missing cut-off value for frailty status
EFS	Cognition, nutrition, continence, functional independence, functional performance, general health status, mood, polypharmacy, and social support, total of 17 score	≥ 8	None	Concurrent validity	Less evidence regarding the reliability and validity; have more categories (5) of frailty status
GFI	Physical, cognitive, social and psychological aspects (15 items), total of 15 score	≥ 4	Scorer reliability Internal consistency	Concurrent validity	Less evidence regarding the predictive validity; the weighting of each aspect; cannot screen pre-frailty
VES	Physical function, daily living ability, self-reported health, and age (13 items), total of 13 score	≥ 3	Test-retest reliability Internal consistency	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Less evidence regarding the reliability and validity; discriminatory ability not good
KCL	Instrumental and social activity of living, physical and cognitive functions, nutritional status, oral function, and depressive mood (25 items), total of 25 score	Not clear	None	Predictive validity Concurrent validity	Including item of disability; cut-off value for frailty status not consistent

FFP: Fried Frailty Phenotype; FRAIL: Fatigue, Resistance, Ambulation, Illness and Loss of Weight Index; SOF: Study of Osteoporotic Fracture Index; PRISMA-7: Program of Research on Integration of Services for the Maintenance of Autonomy 7; GFST: Gérontop de Frailty Screening Tool; SHARE-FI: Frailty Instrument from Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement in Europe; FI: Frailty Index; TFI: Tilburg Frailty Index; EFS: Edmonton Frailty Scale; GFI: Groningen Frailty Indicator; VES: Vulnerable Elders Survey; KCL: Kihon Check-list; . Chapter 2. Reliability and validity of the FRAIL scale and a modified version in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (study 1)

1. Introduction

Physical frailty is defined as a medical syndrome with multiple causes and contributors. It is characterized by diminished strength, endurance, and reduced physiologic function and increases an individual's risk of increased dependency and/or death (Morley et al., 2013). The prevalence of physical frailty in community-dwelling older adults ranges from 4.0% to 17.0% (Collard et al., 2012). The associations between frailty and increased risk of adverse outcomes such as all-cause mortality (Chang and Lin, 2015), hospitalization (Kojima, 2016), future falls (Kojima, 2015), disability (Vermeiren et al., 2016), cognitive function (Kojima et al., 2016), and onset of cardiovascular disease (Veronese et al., 2017) have been clearly demonstrated. As frailty is increasingly recognized, accurate and timely detection of frailty in older adults becomes more urgent and necessary. To date, numerous frailty measurements designed to diagnose the syndrome have been published (Buta et al., 2016, Dent et al., 2016), with the Fried Frailty Phenotype (FFP) (Fried et al., 2001) and Frailty Index (FI) (Mitnitski et al., 2001) being the most widely used. Despite their widespread used, the FFP and FI are not easily implemented in settings such as a busy clinic or large-scale epidemiological study, as the former requires objectively measured and population reference values and the latter requires information derived from the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment.

As a simpler alternative, a 5-item FRAIL scale was proposed by the International Association of Nutrition and Aging in 2008 (Abellan van Kan et al., 2008). This scale is a hybrid measure comprising two functional components, two biological components, and one deficit accumulation component. Moreover, it is notable that the FRAIL scale is comparable to more complex measurements such as the FFP and frailty index in predicting mortality and disability (Malmstrom et al., 2014, Ravindrarajah et al., 2013). Until 2010, the FRAIL scale has first been validated in older men in Australia (Hyde et al., 2010). Since then, it has been gradually verified by many countries includes the United States (Morley et al., 2012), China (Dong et al., 2018, Woo et al., 2012), Brazil (Aprahamian et al., 2017a), Korea (Jung et al., 2016), Mexico (Diaz de Leon Gonzalez et al., 2016, Rosas-Carrasco et al., 2016), and European countries (Theou et al., 2013a). However, the FRAIL scale has not been validated in Japan. Recently, previous studies evaluated the criterion validity of the FRAIL scale with the FFP and found moderate to good accuracies at a 2-point cut-off (Aprahamian et al., 2017a, Dong et al., 2018). Moreover, in the Asia-Pacific guidelines for frailty management (Dent et al., 2017), the FRAIL scale is also considered as a rapid screening for the FFP. However, one of the

constituent items in the FRAIL scale, illness, may limit its validity for the FFP screening. First, the FFP does not include a comorbidity category, the inclusion of illness in the FRAIL scale may threaten its face validity. Additionally, replaced physical activity with illness may change the theoretical constructs or models. Thus, according to the FFP and our previous Sasaguri Genkimon Study (SGS) (Chen et al., 2015), we tried to develop a modification, the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (FFPQ), specifically focused on the FFP screening in the present study.

Therefore, the purposes of this study were 1) to develop a Japanese FRAIL scale (FRAIL-J) and an FFPQ, and 2) to evaluate the reliability and validity of both questionnaires in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

2. Methods

2-1 Study participants

The present study was a cross-sectional analysis using the baseline data of the Itoshima Frail Study (IFS) conducted from September to December 2017. The IFS is an ongoing community-based prospective study in Itoshima City (Japan), aiming to explore modifiable lifestyle factors either causing or protecting against frailty in older adults. Of approximately 10,000 elderly residents of Itoshima aged 65 to 75 years who were not certified as requiring nursing care by the national long-term care insurance system, 5,000 older adults were randomly selected according to the residential area, sex, and age. Study information sheets and questionnaires were mailed to these subjects along with an invitation to visit a community center for further assessments. Of 5,000 individuals we contacted, 1,624 submitted questionnaires and 949 participated in further assessments, for a response rate of 32.6% and 19.0%, respectively. In the present study, individuals who did not participate in any physical tests were excluded. In addition, subjects with missing or invalid data were excluded (Figure 2). This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Kyushu University, Japan. All the participants provided written informed consent.

2-2 Frailty screening

<u>2-2-1 Fried Frailty Phenotype (Table 1)</u>

The FFP includes 5 components: shrinking, weakness, exhaustion, slowness, and low physical activity. The total score ranges from 0 to 5, participants scoring 3 to 5, 1 to 2, and 0 are designated frail, pre-frail and robust, respectively. In our previous SGS study, we defined the low physical activity domain of the FFP using a population reference assessed by a tri-axial accelerometer (Chen et al., 2015). In this study, we used the same definition of the FFP as in the SGS.



Figure 2. Flow chart of participation

	Definition
Shrinking	Unintentional weight $loss > 2-3$ kg in the prior 6 months.
Weakness	Grip strength in the lowest 20%, stratified by gender and BMI (kg/m ²)
Male	\leq 25.00 kg for BMI < 18.5, \leq 30.00 kg for 18.5 \leq BMI < 25, \leq 31.50 kg for 25 \leq BMI < 30, \leq 33.00 kg for BMI \geq 30
Female	\leq 17.50 kg for BMI < 18.5, \leq 19.50 kg for 18.5 \leq BMI < 25, \leq 20.50 kg for BMI 25 \leq BMI < 30, \leq 19.75 kg for BMI \geq 30
Exhaustion	Positive answer to either of two self-reported questions. Participants were asked how they felt in last one month: "Do you feel that everything you do is an effort?", "Do you feel exhausted without any reason?"
Slowness	Time of 5-metre walk test at one's maximum walking speed in the highest 20%, stratified by gender and height (gender-specific cutoff: a medium height).
Male	Time ≥ 3.56 s for height < 162.0 cm or Time ≥ 3.21 s for height ≥ 162.0 cm
Female	Time \geq 4.25 s for height < 148.7 cm or Time \geq 3.61 s for height \geq 148.7 cm
Low physical activity	Lowest 20% of energy expenditure of physical activity by a triaxial accelerometer; quantified as kilocalories/kg (body weight), stratified by gender.
Male	≤6.20 kcal/kg/day
Female	\leq 7.13 kcal/kg/day
Overall frailty status	Non-frail: 0 affected component. Pre-frail: 1–2 affected components. Frail \geq 3 affected components.

Table 2. Operational definition of the Fried Frailty Phenotype

2-2-2 Japanese version of the FRAIL scale (Table 2)

The FRAIL scale includes 5 items and the total score ranges from 0 to 5 points. We modified the original items using comparable existing items that have been more broadly utilized in the Japanese health care system. Cohen's kappa test was used to assess the level of agreement between various preliminary question candidates for fatigue, resistance, ambulation, inactivity, and loss of weight and their corresponding item in the FFP. The highest agreement of each item with the corresponding item was used to determine the final version of FRAIL scale. The contents of the Japanese version of the FRAIL scale are as follows: (1) fatigue was assessed by asking participants if they had felt tired without a reason in the last two weeks; (2) resistance was evaluated by asking participants if they were able to climb stairs without using a handrail or wall for support; (3) ambulation was evaluated by asking participants if they could walk 1 km without resting; (4) illness was defined as the presence of 5 or more of 11 diseases; and (5) loss of weight was defined as unintentional weight loss > 2-3 kg in the previous 6 months. Among the five items, fatigue, resistance, and loss of weight were obtained from the "Kihon Checklist", which was designed by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare and widely used to identify older adults who are at risk of needing long term care (Arai and Satake, 2015). Ambulation was obtained from the "Kaigo-Yobo Checklist" which is also a well-validated index for assessing the risk of long term care (Shinkai et al., 2010).

2-2-3 Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (Table 2)

The items of resistance, ambulation, and loss of weight in the FFPQ were the same as those in the FRAIL-J. Fatigue was the same as the item of exhaustion in the FFP and inactivity was assessed using a simple yes/no question: "Does your sitting or lying time account for 80% or more of your waking time?". As for the cut-off of inactivity, SGS data showed that older adults with low physical activity spent 70% of their waking time in sedentary behavior. However, 70% may not be a good cut-off for frailty diagnosis. A previous study found that in the older adults who spent approximately 70% of their waking time in sedentary behavior at baseline, the presence and absence of frailty two years later were equal. Moreover, in the same study, a higher percentage of sedentary behavior was associated with a higher risk of frailty (hazard ratio=1.55, per 10% increase) (Song et al., 2015). Therefore, a cut-off of 80% was selected in this study.

Table 3. The definition of FRAILQ-J and FFPQ

	FRAIL-J	FFPQ
Fatigue	In the last 2 weeks have you felt tired without a reason? $1 = $ Yes, $0 = $ No.	In the last one month: Do you feel that everything you do is an effort?, Do you feel exhausted without any reason? $1 = Most$ of the time, $2 = Some$ of the time, $3 = A$ little of the time, $4 = None$ of the time. Either of two questions responses of "1" or "2" are scored as 1 and others as 0.
Resistance	Do you normally climb stairs without using handrail or wall for support? $0 = $ Yes, $1 = $ No.	Do you normally climb stairs without using handrail or wall for support? $0 = $ Yes, $1 = $ No.
Ambulation	By yourself and not using aids, do you have any difficulty walking 1 km without resting? $1 = Yes$, $0 = No$.	By yourself and not using aids, do you have any difficulty walking 1 km without resting? $1 = Yes$, $0 = No$.
Illness/Inactivity	The illnesses include hypertension, diabetes, cancer (other than a minor skin cancer), chronic lung disease, heart attack, congestive heart failure, angina, asthma, arthritis, stroke, and kidney disease. The total illnesses $(0-11)$ are recoded as $0-4 = 0$ and $5-11 = 1$.	Does your sitting or lying time account for 80% or more of your waking time in a day. $1 = $ Yes, $0 = $ No.
Loss of weight	Unintentional weight loss > $2-3$ kg in the past 6 months. $1 =$ Yes, $0 =$ No.	Unintentional weight loss > $2-3$ kg in the past 6 months. $1 =$ Yes, $0 =$ No.

FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire.

2-3 Cross-sectional outcome measures

Cross-sectional outcomes including (1) body mass index (BMI); (2) grip strength; (3) gait speed, based on a 5-meter walking test at one's maximum and normal walking speed; (4) open-eyed one-leg standing test (max=120sec); (5) physical activity including energy expenditure of physical activity (EEPA) and total sedentary time (TST) were objectively measured using a tri-axial accelerometer (Active style Pro HJA-350IT, Omron, Kyoto, Japan); (6) cognitive function was measured using the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA); (7) instrumental activity of daily living (IADL) was measured using the Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Gerontology Index of Competence; (8) fall experience was evaluated with one self-reported question of having falls in the past year (yes/no); (9) depression was measured using the 6-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6).

2-4 Other variables

Socio-demographic characteristics including age, gender, living alone (yes/no), smoking (current smoker or not), drinking (current drinker or not) and income status (enough or not) were collected using questionnaires. Polypharmacy was defined as taking 5 or more prescription medications (yes/no).

2-5 Statistical analyses

Descriptive data were summarized as means \pm standard deviation for continuous variables and frequency (percentage) for categorical variables. Internal consistency was calculated by the Kuder-Richardson formula 20 (KR-20) with values above 0.70 indicating satisfactory internal consistency (Kuder and Richardson, 1937). Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) were obtained to assess the test-retest reliability (15day interval) in a sample of 44, with values above 0.70 indicating good test-retest reliability (Shrout and Fleiss, 1979). The coefficients of Phi (item vs dichotomous outcome), Point-Biserial (item vs outcome with normal distribution), and Spearman (item vs outcome without normal distribution) were calculated to evaluate the construct validity (Dancey and Reidy, 2007). It was expected that each item would show the highest correlation with its corresponding measures (convergent construct validity) and lower correlations with the measures of the other items (divergent construct validity). Diagnostic test accuracy (criterion validity) was evaluated by receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) analysis using the FFP as a criterion. The area under the curve above 0.80 was judged to indicate good criterion validity (Murphy et al., 1987). The optimal cut-off point was determined by the maximum value of the Youden index. Cohen's kappa test was used to assess the level of agreement (0-0.20, slight; 0.21-0.40, fair; 0.41-0.60, moderate; 0.61-0.80, substantial; 0.81-1.00, almost perfect) between both scales and the FFP (Landis and Koch, 1977). The concurrent validity was examined by the multivariate linear/logistic regression model. All the analyses were performed using SAS, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC), and the statistical significance level was set at $\alpha = 0.05$ in two-sided tests.

3. Results

3-1 Participant characteristics

The characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 3. Overall, 858 participants with a mean age of 70.89 were included. The prevalence for each item in the two scales were 103 (12.0%, FRAIL-J) and 106 (12.4%, FFPQ) for fatigue, 241 for resistance (28.1%), 54 for ambulation (6.3%), 0 for illness (0%), 136 for inactivity (15.9%), and 81 for loss of weight (9.4%). The prevalence of frailty defined by the FFP was 2.1%.

3-2 Reliability

The KR-20 coefficient was 0.32 for the FRAIL-J and 0.29 for the FFPQ. The testretest reliability (ICCs) for the 15-day interval was 0.79 for the FRAIL-J and 0.72 for the FFPQ.

<u>3-3 Construct validity</u>

Table 4 summarizes the construct validity. The Spearman rank correlations ranged from -0.22 to 0.49 when correlating each item with outcome measurements. The convergent validity of fatigue, resistance, ambulation, and inactivity was good since each item showed the highest correlation with its corresponding measurement: fatigue in both scales was correlated with K6; both resistance and ambulation were correlated with physical performance; inactivity was correlated with EEPA and TST. Divergent validity was also good because these correlations were stronger than the correlations between the corresponding measurement and other items. Evidence for the construct validity of loss of weight did not appear since no significant correlation was found between loss of weight and BMI.

<u>3-4 Criterion validity</u>

Table 5 shows the diagnostic accuracy of both questionnaires. Compare with a 3point cut-off, a 2-point cut-off identified a higher prevalence of frailty by FRAIL-J (12.5% vs 2.3%) and FFPQ (16.9% vs 3.8%). The AUCs for FRAIL-J and FFPQ were 0.86 and 0.88, respectively. The optimal cut-off for FRAIL-J was 2, with a higher Youden index (66.7% vs 20.3% for 3) and a high negative predictive value (NPV=99.5%) but a low positive predictive value (PPV=13.1%). As for the FFPQ, either 2 or 3 points were evaluated as the cut-off because the Youden index (62.2% vs 58.5%) and NPV (99.7% vs 99.2%) were similar but the PPV using a 2-point cut-off was much lower (9.7% vs 33.3%). A Slight agreement was found between FFP and both questionnaires using a 2-point cut-off. Moderate agreement was found between FFP and FFPQ using a 3-point cut-off (kappa=0.42).

The concurrent validity of the two questionnaires is shown in Tables 6 and 7. Irrespective of whether a 2-point or 3-point cut-off was used in both questionnaires, participants with frailty showed lower gait speed, shorter time for one-leg standing, lower EEPA, worse cognitive function, higher K6 score, and a higher rate of falls. However, some differences between both questionnaires still existing. First, frailty status defined by the FRAIL-J showed lower grip strength. Second, frailty status defined by FFPQ showed stronger correlations with IADL and objectively measured TST. In addition, when using a 3-point cut-off, participants with frailty showed higher BMI, however, the trend was disappeared in the FFPQ when using a 2-point cut-off.

Characteristics	(Mean \pm SD) or n (%)	Characteristics	(Mean \pm SD) or n (%)
Age, year	70.9±3.2	MoCA score, point	24.3±2.9
Gender, men	414 (48.3)	K6 score, point	3.4±2.9
Living alone	86 (10.0)	IADL, difficulty ≥ 1 task	44 (5.1)
Current drinker	432 (50.4)	Fall experience (past year)	143 (16.7)
Current smoker	65 (7.6)	Fatigue, FRAIL-J	103 (12.0)
Income, enough	448 (52.2)	Fatigue, FFPQ	106 (12.4)
Polypharmacy, ≥ 5	134 (15.6)	Resistance	241 (28.1)
Education, year	12.9±2.4	Ambulation	54 (6.3)
BMI, kg/m ²	22.9±3.2	Illness, ≥ 5	0 (0)
Grip strength, kg	29.3±8.2	Inactivity	136 (15.9)
Gait speed, m/second	1.5±0.3	Loss of weight	81 (9.4)
One-leg standing, second	83.3±42.6	Fried frailty phenotype	
EEPA, kcal/kg/day	9.8±2.7	Prefrail	341 (40.0)
TST, min/day	442.8 ± 108.4	Frail	18 (2.1)

Table 4. Characteristics of the Total Sample

SD, Standard Deviation; BMI, Body Mass Index; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; K6, 6-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale; IADL, Instrumental Activity of Daily Living; FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire, n=858.

Cross-sectional	Fatigue, FRAIL-J		Fatigue, FFPQ Resistance		Ambul	Ambulation		Inactivity		Illness		Loss of Weight		
outcomes	Correlat	Р	Correlat	Р	Correlat	Р	Correlat	Р	Correlat	Р	Correlat	Р	Correlat	Р
	ion	value	ion	value	ion	value	ion	value	ion	value	ion	value	ion	value
BMI [*]	0.12	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\1\end{array}$	0.01	0.82	0.10	0.00 2	0.08	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02\\1\end{array}$	0.06	0.11			-0.07	0.05
Grip strength [#]	-0.07	0.21	-0.06	0.10	-0.13	<0.0 01	-0.08	0.00 6	0.07	0.05			-0.02	0.56
Gait speed [*]	-0.10	0.00 4	-0.07	0.04 7	-0.16	<0.0 01	-0.22	<0.0 01	-0.06	0.07			-0.004	0.92
One-leg standing [#]	-0.11	0.00 1	-0.06	0.07	-0.19	<0.0 01	-0.13	<0.0 01	-0.04	0.26			-0.07	0.03 1
EEPA [*]	-0.08	0.02 2	-0.02	0.56	-0.09	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00\\ 8\end{array}$	-0.12	<0.0 01	-0.17	<0.0 01			0.06	0.10
TST [*]	-0.004	0.91	-0.01	0.68	0.02	0.54	0.02	0.53	0.17	<0.0 01			-0.05	0.17
MoCA [#]	-0.09	0.01 1	-0.08	0.01 7	-0.04	0.19	-0.09	0.01 2	-0.05	0.18			-0.08	0.01 5
K6 [#]	0.21	<0.0 01	0.49	<0.0 01	0.10	0.00 2	0.13	<0.0 01	0.05	0.11			0.11	0.00 1
IADL [§]	0.03	0.41	0.12	<0.0 01	0.02	0.57	0.03	0.43	0.09	0.01 1			0.03	0.33
Fall experience [§]	0.12	<0.0 01	0.09	0.00 9	0.11	0.00 1	0.05	0.13	0.003	0.93			0.06	0.09

 Table 5. Correlations between Each Item and Cross-sectional Outcomes

FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; BMI, Body Mass Index; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; K6, 6-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale; IADL, Instrumental Activity of Daily Living, n=858.

*: Point-Biserial coefficient (item vs outcome with normal distribution); #: Spearman coefficient (item vs outcome without normal distribution); \$: Phi coefficient (item vs dichotomous outcome).

		Frail, n (%)	AUC (95% CI)	Youden Index, %	Sensitivity, %	Specificity, %	PPV, %	NPV, %	Kappa
FRAIL-J									
	cut-off ≥ 2	107 (12.5)	0.86* (95% CI:	66.7	77.8	88.9	13.1	99.5	0.20*
	cut-off ≥ 3	20 (2.3)	0.75-0.96)	20.3	22.2	98.1	20.0	98.3	0.19
FFPQ									
	cut-off ≥ 2	145 (16.9)	0.88* (95% CI:	62.2	77.8	84.4	9.7	99.7	0.14*
	cut-off ≥ 3	33 (3.8)	0.79-0.97)	58.5	61.1	97.4	33.3	99.2	$0.42^{\#}$

Table 6. Diagnostic Accuracy of the FRAIL-J and FFPQ Using the Fried Frailty Phenotype as a Criterion

FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; AUC, Area Under the Curve; CI, Confidence Interval; PPV, Positive Predictive Value; NPV, Negative Predictive Value. **P*<0.001, #<0.01, n=858.

Crease anotion al autoarras	Engilter staturs	FRA	AIL-J		FFPQ			
Cross-sectional outcomes	Franty status [°]	β (SE)	P value	<i>P</i> for trend	β (SE)	P value	<i>P</i> for trend	
BMI*	Pre-frail	0.68 (0.22)	0.003	<0.001	0.42 (0.22)	0.06	0.027	
	Frail	1.80 (0.73)	0.013	<0.001	0.72 (0.55)	0.20	0.027	
Grip strength*, kg	Pre-frail	-1.03 (0.52)	0.048	0.015	-0.41 (0.51)	0.42	0.08	
	Frail	-2.98 (1.68)	0.08	0.015	-2.97 (1.34)	0.026	0.08	
Gait speed*, m/second	Pre-frail	-0.06 (0.02)	< 0.001	<0.001	-0.05 (0.02)	0.001	<0.001	
	Frail	-0.13 (0.06)	0.025	<0.001	-0.18 (0.04)	< 0.001	<0.001	
One-leg standing*, second	Pre-frail	-14.21 (2.86)	< 0.001	<0.001	-11.41 (2.80)	< 0.001	-0.001	
	Frail	-27.88 (9.24)	0.003	<0.001	-25.25 (7.37)	< 0.001	<0.001	
EEPA [#] , kcal/kg/day	Pre-frail	-0.26 (0.17)	0.14	0.021	-0.44 (0.17)	0.009	<0.001	
	Frail	-1.16 (0.55)	0.036	0.031	-1.47 (0.44)	< 0.001	<0.001	
TST [#] , min/day	Pre-frail	1.31 (6.33)	0.84	0.54	12.11 (6.15)	0.049	0.004	
	Frail	21.10 (20.48)	0.30	0.54	44.48 (16.21)	0.006	0.004	
MoCA*	Pre-frail	-0.46 (0.20)	0.025	0.002	-0.53 (0.20)	0.008	0.002	
	Frail	-1.78 (0.66)	0.007	0.002	-1.11 (0.52)	0.034	0.002	
K6*	Pre-frail	0.91 (0.20)	< 0.001	<0.001	1.46 (0.19)	< 0.001	-0.001	
	Frail	2.02 (0.65)	0.002	<0.001	3.37 (0.51)	< 0.001	<0.001	
		Odds Ratio (95% CI)			Odds Ratio (95% CI)			
IADL*, difficulty ≥ 1 task	Pre-frail	1.20 (0.61-2.37)	0.60	0 176	2.39 (1.17-4.87)	0.017	0.002	
	Frail	4.79 (1.04-21.94)	0.044	0.170	6.03 (1.55-23.41)	0.010	0.005	
Fall experience*	Pre-frail	1.61 (1.10-2.36)	0.014	<0.001	1.22 (0.83-1.80)	0.30	0.012	
	Frail	5.52 (2.11-14.50)	< 0.001	<0.001	3.75 (1.71-8.25)	0.001	0.012	

Table 7. Cross-sectional Associations for Frailty Status (cut-off ≥3) with Cross-sectional Outcomes

§, Pre-frail: cut-off=1 or 2, Frail: cut-off \geq 3; FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; SE, Standard Error; BMI, Body Mass Index; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; K6, 6item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale; IADL, Instrumental Activity of Daily Living. *Adjusted for age, gender, living alone, drinking, smoking, education, income, and polypharmacy; [#]Additional adjusted for wear time, n=858.

Crease anotional autoamas	Encilta status	FRA	IL-J		FFPQ			
Cross-sectional outcomes	Franty status [°]	β (SE)	P value	<i>P</i> for trend	β (SE)	P value	P for trend	
BMI*	Pre-frail	0.66 (0.24)	0.007	0.001	0.50 (0.24)	0.038	0.00	
	Frail	0.88 (0.34)	0.010	0.001	0.37 (0.31)	0.23	0.09	
Grip strength*, kg	Pre-frail	-0.66 (0.57)	0.24	0.006	-0.42 (0.55)	0.45	0.19	
	Frail	-2.24 (0.79)	0.005	0.000	-0.93 (0.71)	0.19	0.18	
Gait speed*, m/second	Pre-frail	-0.03 (0.02)	0.10	<0.001	-0.04 (0.02)	0.035	<0.001	
	Frail	-0.16 (0.03)	< 0.001	<0.001	-0.11 (0.02)	< 0.001	<0.001	
One-leg standing*, second	Pre-frail	-11.94 (3.12)	< 0.001	<0.001	-10.72 (3.06)	< 0.001	<0.001	
	Frail	-22.04 (4.33)	< 0.001	<0.001	-15.82 (3.93)	< 0.001	<0.001	
EEPA [#] , kcal/kg/day	Pre-frail	-0.13 (0.19)	0.49	0.012	-0.43 (0.18)	0.019	0.001	
	Frail	-0.71 (0.26)	0.006	0.012	-0.68 (0.23)	0.004	0.001	
TST [#] , min/day	Pre-frail	-2.06 (6.93)	0.77	0.24	10.81 (6.72)	0.11	0.008	
	Frail	12.88 (9.62)	0.18	0.54	21.72 (8.64)	0.012	0.008	
MoCA*	Pre-frail	-0.47 (0.22)	0.033	0.011	-0.49 (0.22)	0.023	0.002	
	Frail	-0.63 (0.31)	0.041	0.011	-0.74 (0.28)	0.008	0.005	
K6*	Pre-frail	0.58 (0.22)	0.009	<0.001	1.01 (0.20)	< 0.001	< 0.001	
	Frail	1.94 (0.31)	< 0.001	<0.001	2.83 (0.26)	< 0.001		
		Odds Ratio (95% CI)			Odds Ratio (95% CI)			
IADL*, difficulty ≥ 1 task	Pre-frail	1.13 (0.53-2.41)	0.75	0.24	2.32 (1.09-4.93)	0.029	0.007	
	Frail	1.83 (0.73-4.59)	0.20	0.24	3.11 (1.29-7.55)	0.012	0.007	
Fall experience*	Pre-frail	1.46 (0.96-2.22)	0.08	<0.001	1.11 (0.73-1.70)	0.62	0.016	
_	Frail	2.51 (1.50-4.19)	< 0.001	<0.001	1.90 (1.18-3.07)	0.009	0.016	

Table 8. Cross-sectional Associations for Frailty Status (cut-off ≥2) with Cross-sectional Outcomes

§, Pre-frail: cut-off=1, Frail: cut-off \geq 2; FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; SE, Standard Error; BMI, Body Mass Index; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; K6, 6-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale; IADL, Instrumental Activity of Daily Living. *Adjusted for age, gender, living alone, drinking, smoking, education, income, and polypharmacy; #Additional adjusted for wear time, n=858.

4. Discussion

In the present study, we developed a FRAIL-J and an FFPQ and evaluated the reliability and validity of both questionnaires in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Both questionnaires showed low internal consistency, good test-retest reliability, acceptable construct validity, satisfactory diagnostic accuracy, and concurrent validity.

The KR-20 coefficients of both questionnaires were less than 0.70 indicating a low internal consistency. Similar results were also found in previous studies with values of 0.485 (Dong et al., 2018) and 0.447 (Aprahamian et al., 2017a), respectively. The low internal consistency could be explained by the existence of two sub-dimensions of FRAIL scale which are physical performance (ambulation and resistance) and health status (fatigue, weight loss, and illnesses), which seem to be associated with different socio-demographic and clinical characteristics suggesting different pathways to frailty (Aprahamian et al., 2017b). The ICCs of both questionnaires were higher than 0.70 indicating the stability of both scales across time.

The items of fatigue, resistance, ambulation, and inactivity showed good convergent and divergent validities, however, three issues must be further considered with respect to the construct validity. First, loss of weight did not correlate with BMI, as in a previous study (Gobbens et al., 2010). This could be because the item was likely correlated to some indicators of change in weight over time. For example, previous studies observed the loss of weight was correlated with Mini-Nutritional Assessment which includes an assessment of weight loss (Dong et al., 2018, Rosas-Carrasco et al., 2016). Second, no participants met the definition of illness in the FRAIL-J. This could be because the IFS only recruited older adults aged 65-75 years, and people in a better physical state might have been more inclined to participate in the survey. Indeed, previous studies also showed a very low prevalence of illness in Korea (2.9%, patients aged 65 years or older) (Jung et al., 2016) and the United States (2.1%, African Americans aged 49-65 years) (Morley et al., 2012). Last, although our findings indicated that inactivity using 80% as the cut-off had good construct validity as expected, further studies are still needed to examine it in the more diverse populations.

Previous studies of the FRAIL scale mainly focused on its ability to predict adverse outcomes. Although such analysis is necessary for validity research, information on the diagnostic accuracy using a valid and reliable frailty instrument as a criterion is more useful in terms of health care. In the present study, using the FFP as a criterion, ROC analysis indicated both questionnaires had good diagnostic accuracy, higher than those of other versions of the FRAIL scale investigated in Brazil (AUC=0.68) (Aprahamian et al., 2017a) and Korea (AUC=0.77) (Jang et al., 2017), and similar to that of a Chinese FRAIL scale (AUC=0.91) (Dong et al., 2018). A frailty screening tool needs to have a high sensitivity and high NPV to ensure all individuals at risk for frailty can be detected (Clegg et al., 2015). In the present study, compared with a 3point, a 2-point cut-off for both questionnaires had higher sensitivity and higher NPV, while the PPV was low. In addition, a 2-point cut-off identified 12.5% of individuals with frailty as screened by FRAIL-J and 16.9% for FFPQ which are much higher than those defined by FFP (2.1%) in the present study and a recent meta-analysis. This meta-analysis showed that the age-stratified prevalence of frailty based on FFP in Japan was 1.9% and 3.8% for those aged 65-69 and 70-74 years, respectively (Kojima et al., 2017). It is notable that a 3-point cut-off of FFPQ showed the similar prevalence (3.8%) and might be also adopted for frailty screening given its comparable sensitivity (61.1%) and NPV (99.2%) to the 2-point cut-off, and a moderate agreement (kappa=0.42) with FFP. As a rapid screening instrument, our results suggesting a 2-point cut-off for both questionnaires or 3-point cut-off for FFPQ can be adopted, however, an elementary but important point is that both questionnaires cannot be expected to replace the FFP according to the results.

The associations between the two questionnaires and frailty status were similar to previous studies. Morley et al. (Morley et al., 2012) found participants with frailty showed lower gait speed, shorter time for one-leg standing, poorer Falls Efficacy Scale, and lower mental health. A recent systematic review found that older adults with frailty had fourfold increased odds of depression (Soysal et al., 2017). As for EEPA, as we knew there is no study evaluating the association between EEPA and frailty status screened by the FRAIL scale until now. The results indicated that although the FRAIL-J does not include a question about physical activity, it also can discriminate participants with lower EEPA. Previous studies found the significant association between frailty defined by the FRAIL scale and IADL, however, no significant trend was found in the present study. These results might be explained by the deficiency of illness (no participants met the definition of this item). Moreover, these results may indicate that the existing definition of illness (e.g., type, severity, the number of diseases) may not be appropriate in Japan. Participants with frailty screened by the FFPQ showed higher TST, as might be expected since the FFPQ includes an item for assessing sedentary behavior. A recent study found that among older adults who are inactive and vulnerable or frail, TST increases mortality risk, but among those who are robust or active, TST does not affect the risk of mortality (Theou et al., 2017).

Frailty status defined by the FRAIL-J showed lower grip strength, while this result was not appeared using the FFPQ to define frailty. Indeed, previous studies also reported different results. Morley et al. (Morley et al., 2012) found that older adults with frailty showed lower grip strength, however, a Chinese study found an opposed result (Woo et al., 2015). These results might be explained by two reasons. First, in the present study, including an item of inactivity (dichotomous) may decrease the discriminating ability of grip strength (no correlation was found between inactivity and grip strength, Table 4). Second, the grip strength may not be a good criterion for criterion validity test. Because the item of resistance was tested for the ability to climb stairs, one-leg standing or timed up-and-go test may be more suitable as an alternative criterion. The results in Table 4 also showed that the correlation of resistance with one-leg standing was higher than grip strength. As for the BMI, although older adults with frailty showed higher BMI when using 3-point cut-off of both questionnaires, the trend was disappeared in the FFPQ (P for trend from 0.027 to 0.09) when using a 2point cut-off. Morley et al. (Morley et al., 2012) found that older adults with frailty showed higher BMI, however, the trend did not appear in a community-based study (Woo et al., 2015). Just like grip strength, including the item of inactivity in the FFPQ may decrease the discriminating ability of BMI. In addition, although fatigue in the FRAIL scale was directed at the exhaustion of FFP, when compared with each other, in addition to the K6, fatigued was more relevant to BMI and fall but exhaustion was more relevant to IADL (Table 4).

There are some limitations to this study. First, our participants were age-restricted to 65-75 years and geographically restricted to a single city in Japan. Therefore, the sample was not representative of the older Japanese population as a whole. Second, only 32.6% submitted questionnaires and 19.0% responded to the invitation to participate in further assessments. A healthier group might have self-selected for participation. Finally, the cross-sectional design precludes the ability to examine the predictive validity of the two questionnaires for adverse outcomes.

5. Conclusions

The FRAIL-J and FFPQ present acceptable reliability and validity and a 2-point cut-off of both questionnaires or a 3-point cut-off of the FFPQ can be used as the first step for frailty screening in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.
Chapter 3. Associations of objectively measured patterns of the sedentary behavior and physical activity with frailty status screened by the Japanese FRAIL scale and Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (study 2)

1. Introduction

Frailty is defined as a medical syndrome that can increase the risk of adverse outcomes. Meanwhile, previous studies have demonstrated that frailty is a dynamic condition and frailty status can transition between better and worse over time (Lee et al., 2014). This aspect of frailty presents an opening for potential preventative and restorative interventions. Lifestyle is considered one of the main keystones in the development of frailty, and a healthy lifestyle can help older adults to manage frailty. As a common component of lifestyle, daily sedentary behavior (SB) and physical activity (PA) may play an important role in the development of frailty (Kehler et al., 2018a, Kehler et al., 2018b).

One recent review summarized the epidemiological evidence concerning the impact of SB on frailty (Kehler et al., 2018b). In this review, all studies used subjective assessment of SB such as TV watching time or self-reported sedentary or inactive lifestyle found a significant negative association between SB and frailty indicted that promoting physical activity may be a feasible way to prevent frailty. However, the evidence of the association between objective assessment of SB and frailty was inconsistent. Of eight total studies that reported the association between objectively measured total sedentary time and frailty among community-dwelling older adults, only three studies found significant associations. One reason causing this inconsistency might be most studies only captured the total sedentary time without consideration to SB patterns of how sedentary time is accumulated in prolonged uninterrupted bouts such as ≥ 10 min or ≥ 30 min. Indeed, increasing evidence showed that the different SB patterns might result in distinct health outcomes (Bellettiere et al., 2019, Diaz et al., 2017). To date, two studies investigated the association between SB patterns and frailty, but only limited features of sedentary patterns were included in these two studies. In the study of Toledo Healthy Study on Aging (THSA), no significant association was found between the duration of SB bouts lasting ≥ 10 min and the score of Frailty Trait Scale (Del Pozo-Cruz et al., 2017). However, a significant association was found between the duration of SB bouts lasting \geq 30 min and the levels of frailty in females from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) (Kehler et al., 2018a, Kehler et al., 2019). Therefore, further studies are needed to examine whether the association between SB and frailty depends on the bout length definition.

As for the association between objective assessment of PA and frailty, a recent review found that a higher amount of total moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) time was associated with frailty (Kehler and Theou, 2019). However, the PA patterns of how MVPA is accumulated in consecutive/sporadic bouts such as ≥ 10 min or < 10 min required to influence frailty is still unclear. Although WHO recommended that older adults aged 65 years and older should accumulate at least 150 minutes of MVPA per week in bouts ≥ 10 min (WHO, 2010), meeting such recommendation may be challenging, especially in the older adult with frailty (Blodgett et al., 2015a). A recent systematic review found that both MVPA in bouts of ≥ 10 min and <10 min is associated with favorable health outcomes such as BMI, body fatness, and all-cause mortality, which suggest bouts of any duration may have health-enhancing effects (Jakicic et al., 2019). Accordingly, the recent U.S. guidelines that bouted or sporadic MVPA can provide important benefits and highlight the potential health benefits of light physical activity (LPA) in older adults (Piercy, K. L., 2018). However, it is still less clear how bouted or sporadic MVPA and LPA are related to frailty.

Japan has the largest proportion of the elderly population and has the most rapid aging rate than that of any other country, while the life expectancy is the highest in the world (Arai et al., 2015). Moreover, according to a recent systematic review and meta-analysis, the prevalence of frailty in Japan was lower than in other countries (7.5% vs 9.9%) (Kojima et al., 2017). Comprehensively examine the associations of objectively assessed different patterns of SB and PA with frailty in Japan may provide a unique insight into the management of frailty. Thus, the purposes of the present study were 1) to investigate if different SB, PA patterns and the number of steps are associated with frailty status, and 2) to determine the optimal cut-off value of PA and SB variables and steps to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

2. Methods

2-1 Study participants

Cross-sectional data were derived from the baseline survey of the Itoshima Frail Study (IFS), which was carried out from September to December in 2017. The design of IFS has been described in detail elsewhere (Chen et al., 2019). Briefly, the IFS is an ongoing community-based prospective study in Itoshima City, located in northwest Japan. Its aiming is to explore modifiable lifestyle factors causing/protecting against frailty. The inclusion criteria of IFS were primary residents of I. city, aged 65-75 years, who were not certified as requiring nursing care by the National Long-term Care Insurance System. Of approximately 10,000 older adults, 5,000 were randomly selected according to the residential area, sex, and age. A set of study information sheets and questionnaires were mailed to subjects, inviting them to community centers for further assessments. Of the 5,000 individuals we contacted, 1,631 submitted questionnaires and 949 completed further assessments, for a response rate of 32.6% and 19.0%, respectively. Of the 949 subjects, we excluded 19 individuals who did not have accelerometer data, 69 individuals with less than 4 days of valid accelerometer data, and 42 individuals with missing data of covariates (Figure 3). This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Kyushu University, Japan. All participants provided written informed consent.



Figure 3. Flow chart of participation

2-2 Frailty screening

The Japanese FRAIL scale (FRAIL-J) and Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (FFPQ) (Table 2) were used to screen frailty status, which has shown good reliability and construct validity in our previous study (Chen et al., 2019). The total score of both questionnaires ranges from 0-5 points, with one point assigned to each component. Although the original FRAIL scale set a 3-point score as the cut-off point to identify frailty, our previous study showed that, compared to a 3-point cut-off, a 2-

point cut-off of both questionnaires had better criterion validity and could be the optimal one in Japanese older adults. Indeed, a 2-point cutoff for the FRAIL scale was also recommended in the Brazilian and Chinese versions (Aprahamian et al., 2017a, Dong et al., 2018). Therefore, in the present study, a score of 0 would indicate robust participants, 1 as pre-frailty, and 2-5 as frailty.

2-3 SB and PA variables

SB and PA were measured objectively using a waist-mounted, tri-axial, accelerometer (Active style Pro HJA-750C, Omron Healthcare, Kyoto, Japan) for seven consecutive days after the health assessment. The previous study reported that METs determined by the Active style Pro HJA-350IT were closely correlated with METs calculated by the indirect calorimetry, with an average percentage of differences less than 10%. Accordingly, the Active style Pro directly estimates the intensity of activities as METs (Ohkawara et al., 2011). Participants were instructed by trained personnel to wear the accelerometer on either side of their waist during their waking hours, and to remove the device only before going to bed or when engaging in water activities. Simple instruction and a log diary were also provided to encourage compliance with accelerometer protocols. Data were recorded in 60-s periods for the data analysis. The SAS macro program provided by the National Cancer Institute (National Cancer Institute, 2015) was modified for our accelerometer to compute daily non-wear time, as described elsewhere (Chen et al., 2017, Honda et al., 2016). Non-wearing time was defined as at least 60 consecutive min of no activity, with an allowable 2 min to reach up to 1.0 metabolic equivalent (MET). Data for participants with at least 4 valid wear days (at least 10 h of wear time per day) were included in the analysis.

2-3-1 SB variables

Sedentary time was defined as a minute in which activity intensity was ≤ 1.5 METs, for example, resting in the sitting and lying or using computer (Ohkawara et al., 2011). A sedentary bout was defined as a period of sedentary time accumulated without interruption. Previous studies used 10 or 30 min/day as the cut-off value to define prolonged sedentary duration (Del Pozo-Cruz et al., 2017, Kehler et al., 2018a), however, the consensus is still lacking on the best measure of sedentary accumulation patterns. Therefore, apart from 10-min and 30-min bout of sedentary time, mean sedentary bout duration was also calculated by dividing total sedentary time by the total number of sedentary bouts in the present study, with higher values indicating more prolonged accumulation patterns, whereas lower values indicated more interrupted patterns.

2-3-2 PA variables

LPA was defined as activities of 1.5-3 METs such as laundry, dishwashing, or vacuuming (Ohkawara et al., 2011). MVPA was defined as activities of \geq 3 METs including walking, jogging, and ascending or descending stairs (Ohkawara et al., 2011). Bouted MVPA was defined as \geq 10 consecutive min, with an allowance for up to 2 min out of 10 to drop below the MVPA intensity threshold. This was consistent with the values recommended by the WHO physical activity guideline (WHO, 2010). Sporadic MVPA was defined as any MVPA accumulated in < 10 min. In addition, steps per day were also calculated.

2-4 Other variables

Socio-demographic characteristics including age, gender, education, living alone (yes/no), smoking (current smoker or not), and drinking (current drinker or not) were collected using questionnaires. Polypharmacy was defined as taking 5 or more prescription medications (yes/no). Cognitive function was measured using the Japanese version of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), conducted by the public nurses and trained staff. Instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) were measured using the 5-item subscale of the Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Gerontology Index of Competence. The Japanese version of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) was used to assess sleep.

2-5 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive data were summarized means ± standard deviation for continuous variables and as frequency (percentages) for categorical variables. Differences across frailty status were tested with the Jonckheere-Terpstra trend test for continuous variables, and the Cochran-Armitage trend test for categorical variables. In preliminary analyses, the effects of interaction between SB, PA variables and sex were examined by entering the interaction terms (exposure variables * sex) in age and sex adjusted logistic regression model and all interaction terms were not statistically significant (all P > 0.05). Therefore, all analyses were conducted with men and women together. Multivariable-adjusted multinomial logistic regression analyses were used to investigate the associations between SB, PA patterns and frailty status. The following two models were used to adjust for confounding factors: model 1 included age, sex, education, living alone, drinking and smoking status, polypharmacy, MoCA score, PSQI score, IADL, and accelerometer wear time; model 2 included factors in model 1 plus total MVPA time to SB variables (model 2a), or total sedentary time to PA variables (model 2b). In addition, in order to determine if bouted and sporadic MVPA independently associated with frailty status, sporadic MVPA and bouted MVPA were added to model 2c. The variance inflation factor (VIF) for all variables was calculated to detect the presence of colinearity. Each covariate had a VIF below 3 in the fully adjusted model 2, which is considered acceptable. Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis (ROC) was used to define the cut-off value of time spent in specific levels of PA and SB variables to differentiate between being frailty and non-frailty when a significant association was observed in the logistic regression analysis. The area under the curve (AUC) represents the ability of a variable in differentiating between frailty and non-frailty. AUC values of > 0.80 are considered good, 0.70-0.79 fair, and < 0.70 poor (Metz, 1978). The optimal cut-off value was determined by the maximum value of the Youden index. ROC analyses were conducted using MedCalc version 19.1 (MedCalc Software, Ostend, Belgium) and other analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, N.C., USA). The statistical significance was set at $\alpha = 0.05$ in two-sided tests.

3. Results

The characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 8. Of the total 819 older adults, the mean age was 70.9 ± 3.1 years and a half were male (48.2%). In all participants, the prevalence of robust, pre-frailty and frailty defined by the FRAIL-J and FFPQ were 60.2% vs 50.0%, 27.8% vs 33.3%, and 12.0% vs 16.7%, respectively. On average, irrespective of whether FRAIL-J or FFPQ was used to screen frailty status, participants with frailty showed lower MoCA score, higher PSQI score, shorter total MVPA time and bouted MVPA, lower daily steps, and have a

higher ratio of polypharmacy. However, some inconsistent characteristics of frailty status screened by both questionnaires still existed. Frailty status screened by the FRAIL-J was more likely to be women, while this result was not observed using the FFPQ. In addition, Frailty status screened by the FFPQ showed longer mean sedentary duration, shorter sporadic MVPA, and a higher ratio of IADL, although these trends were not appeared using the FRAIL-J.

Table 9 shows the association between SB, PA variables and frailty status. In models 1 and 2, total sedentary time, 10-min and 30-min bout of sedentary time, and mean sedentary bout duration was not associated with pre-frailty and frailty screened by the FRAIL-J. Despite total sedentary time, 10-min and 30-min bout of sedentary time, and mean sedentary bout duration was associated with frailty screened by the FFPQ in model 1, these associations were disappeared after additional adjusted for the total MVPA time in model 2a. On the other hand, except LPA, PA variables including total MVPA time, sporadic MVPA, bouted MVPA, and steps were all significantly associated with frailty in model 1. However, the association between sporadic MVPA and frailty screened by both questionnaires, and the association between bouted MVPA and frailty screened by the FFPQ were disappeared after additional adjusted for the total sedentary time in model 2b. The final multivariable-adjusted odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) were 0.83 (0.75-0.92), 0.81 (0.70-0.92), and 0.80 (0.710.89) for total MVPA time, bouted MVPA, and steps in the FRAIL-J and 0.91 (0.84-0.99), and 0.89 (0.82-0.98) for total MVPA time, and steps in the FFPQ. AUCs of total MVPA time, bouted MVPA, and steps were significant but only weak discriminations (all AUC < 0.7) were observed in the FRAIL-J. The optimal cut-off value of total MVPA time, bouted MVPA, and steps to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty were 43.25 min/day, 9.13 min/day, and 3841 steps/day, respectively (Figure 4). As for the FFPQ, all PA variables were significant but also only weak discriminations (all AUC < 0.7) were observed similar to the FRAIL-J. The optimal cut-off value of total MVPA time, sporadic MVPA, bouted MVPA, and steps to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty were 51.63 min/day, 11.0 min/day, 9.13 min/day, and 3702 steps/day, respectively (Figure 5).

Variables	Total	Frailty Status			
		Robust	Pre-frailty	Frailty	P for trend
All					
FRIAL-J	910	493 (60.2)	228 (27.8)	98 (12.0)	
FFPQ	819	409 (50.0)	273 (33.3)	137 (16.7)	
Socio-demographic factors					
Age, year					
FRIAL-J	70.0.2.1	70.9±3.1	70.9±3.1	71.1±3.1	0.76
FFPQ	/0.9±3.1	70.8±3.1	71.0±3.2	71.1±3.1	0.28
Gender, men					
FRIAL-J	205 (49.2)	254 (51.5)	105 (46.1)	36 (36.7)	0.006
FFPQ	395 (48.2)	201 (49.1)	134 (49.1)	60 (43.8)	0.36
Living alone					
FRIAL-J		44 (8.9)	26 (11.4)	10 (10.2)	0.44
FFPQ	80 (9.8)	35 (8.6)	32 (11.7)	13 (9.5)	0.47
Education, year					
FRIAL-J	10.0.0.4	12.9±2.4	12.9±2.3	12.7±2.3	0.39
FFPQ	12.9±2.4	12.9±2.4	13.1±2.3	12.7±2.4	0.75
Health behaviors factors					
Current drinker					
FRIAL-J	410 (50.1)	258 (52.3)	108 (47.4)	44 (44.9)	0.10
FFPQ	410 (50.1)	214 (52.3)	134 (49.1)	62 (45.3)	0.14
Current smoker					
FRIAL-J	50 (7 0)	44 (8.9)	9 (4.0)	6 (6.12)	0.07
FFPQ	59 (7.2)	37 (9.1)	17 (6.2)	5 (3.7)	0.025
Polypharmacy, ≥ 5					
FRIAL-J		53 (10.8)	43 (18.9)	30 (30.6)	< 0.001
FFPQ	126 (15.4)	44 (10.8)	45 (16.5)	30 (30.6)	< 0.001
IADL. ≥1					
FRIAL-J		22 (4.5)	11 (4.8)	8 (8.16)	0.19
FFPO	41 (5.0)	11 (2.7)	19 (7.0)	11 (8.0)	0.003
MoCA score, point		(,		(010)	
FRIAL-J		24.5±2.9	24.1±2.9	23.6±3.3	0.001
FFPO	24.3±2.9	24.6+2.9	24.1+2.8	23.6+3.2	0.001
PSOI score, point					
FRIAL-J		3.8±2.6	4.2±3.0	5.3±3.2	< 0.001
FFPO	4.1±2.8	3.7+2.5	4.4+3.1	4.9+3.1	< 0.001

Table 9 Characteristics of the T	Fotal Sample According to	Frailty Status by the	FRAIL-I and FFPO
Tuble 7. Characteristics of the	total Sample Meeting to	r I anty Status by the	I IMIL 9 and I I I Q

Data shows mean ±SD or n (%). FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; IADL, Instrumental Activity of Daily Living; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, n=819.

Table 9. Continue

		Frailty Status				
Variables	Total	Robust Pre-frailty		Frailty	P for trend	
Sedentary behavior and phycial activity						
Total sedentary time, min/day						
FRIAL-J	4560 1112	460.1±113.0	450.7 ± 104.4	455.3±118.7	0.49	
FFPQ	430.9±111.3	451.5 ± 107.1	461.9±111.9	463.2±121.8	0.28	
10-min bout of sedentary time, min/day						
FRIAL-J	328 1+113 8	331.2±115.6	321.5 ± 105.1	327.7±124.1	0.65	
FFPQ	526.1 ±115.6	321.2±107.7	334.1±115.3	337.0±127.3	0.11	
30-min bout of sedentary time, min/day						
FRIAL-J	1797+949	181.6±96.8	175.7±87.3	179.1±102.7	0.68	
FFPQ	177.7 ±24.7	174.0±89.9	185.6±97.3	184.7±103.9	0.18	
Mean sedentary bout duration, min/day						
FRIAL-J	4 11 +0 73	4.12±0.74	4.07±0.69	4.12±0.80	0.87	
FFPQ	4.11 ±0.75	4.06±0.70	4.15±0.74	4.17±0.80	0.047	
Total LPA time, min/day						
FRIAL-J	341.0±94.4	339.6±93.5	342.9±91.3	343.2±102.1	0.60	
FFPQ		347.9±90.1	335.7±95.4	333.9 ± 103.9	0.06	
Total MVPA time, min/day						
FRIAL-J	57 2 22 7	54.5±33.3	52.8±32.5	40.5±32.7	< 0.001	
FFPQ	J2.3±J3.2	55.7±33.0	50.9±33.7	45.4±31.9	< 0.001	
Sporadic MVPA, min/day						
FRIAL-J	21.4.17.0	32.0±18.1	31.6±16.9	27.9±18.9	0.14	
FFPQ	31.4±17.9	33.0±18.2	30.8±17.8	27.8±16.9	0.004	
Bouted MVPA, min/day						
FRIAL-J	20.0.24.1	22.5±24.1	21.2±25.1	12.7±20.5	< 0.001	
FFPQ	20.9±24.1	22.7±23.4	20.0±25.5	17.6±23.2	< 0.001	
Steps per day						
FRIAL-J	5652.9±2803	5872.2±2699 .7	5695.1±2792 .8	4451.7±3057 .0	< 0.001	
FFPQ	.3	5954.0±2637 .7	5524.8±2817 .6	5009.5±3129 .6	< 0.001	

Data shows mean ±SD or n (%). FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; LPA, Light Physical Activity; MVPA, Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity, n=819.

Table 10.	Characteristics	of the Total Sa	mple According	y to Frailty Sta	atus by the FRAIL	-J and FFPO
				,		· ······

17 ' 11	Pre-frailty vs Robust (95% CI)		Frailty vs Robust (95% CI)	
Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2
FRAIL-J				
Sedentary behavior				
Total sedentary time, increment per 30 min/day	0.99 (0.94-1.05)	0.97 (0.91-1.04) ^a	1.05 (0.97-1.13)	0.95 (0.86-1.04) ^a
10-min bout of sedentary time, increment per 30 min/day	0.99 (0.94-1.04)	$0.98 (0.93 - 1.03)^{a}$	1.04 (0.97-1.11)	$0.98 (0.90-1.05)^{a}$
30-min bout of sedentary time, increment per 30 min/day	1.00 (0.94-1.05)	0.99 (0.93-1.00) ^a	1.04 (0.96-1.13)	$0.98 (0.90-1.07)^{a}$
Mean sedentary bout duration, increment per 1 min/day	0.97 (0.77-1.23)	0.95 (0.75-1.21) ^a	1.14 (0.83-1.58)	1.00 (0.72-1.40) ^a
Physical activity				
Total LPA time, increment per 10 min/day	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	1.01 (0.99-1.03) ^a	1.00 (0.97-1.03)	1.02 (0.99-1.05) ^a
Total MVPA time, increment per 10 min/day	0.98 (0.94-1.03)	0.97 (0.91-1.03) ^b	0.86 (0.79-0.93)**	0.83 (0.75-0.92) ^{**b}
Sporadic MVPA, increment per 10 min/day	0.99 (0.90-1.09)	0.96 (0.85-1.09) ^b	$0.86 (0.74-0.99)^{*}$	$0.84 (0.71 - 1.01)^{b}$
		$0.97 (0.85 - 1.09)^{\circ}$		$0.88 (0.73 - 1.05)^{c}$
Bouted MVPA, increment per 10 min/day	0.97 (0.91-1.04)	0.97 (0.90-1.04) ^b	0.80 (0.70-0.91)**	$0.80 (0.69 - 0.91)^{**b}$
		$0.97 (0.90-1.04)^{c}$		0.81 (0.70-0.92) ^{**c}
Step, increment per 1000 step/day	0.98 (0.92-1.04)	0.97 (0.90-1.03) ^b	0.82 (0.74-0.90)**	0.80 (0.71-0.89) ^{**b}
FFPQ				
Sedentary behavior				
Total sedentary time, increment per 30 min/day	1.05 (0.99-1.10)	1.03 (0.96-1.09) ^a	$1.08(1.01-1.16)^{*}$	1.03 (0.95-1.12) ^a
10-min bout of sedentary time, increment per 30 min/day	1.05 (0.99-1.10)	1.03 (0.98-1.09) ^a	$1.08(1.02-1.15)^{*}$	$1.04 (0.98-1.12)^{a}$
30-min bout of sedentary time, increment per 30 min/day	1.05(0.99-1.11)	1.04 (0.98-1.10) ^a	$1.07 (1.00-1.15)^*$	1.04 (0.96-1.12) ^a
Mean sedentary bout duration, increment per 1 min/day	1.22 (0.97-1.54)	1.18 (0.94-1.49) ^a	$1.35(1.01-1.81)^{*}$	$1.24 (0.92 - 1.67)^{a}$
Physical activity				
Total LPA time, increment per 10 min/day	0.99 (0.97-1.01)	0.99 (0.97-1.01) ^a	0.98 (0.97-1.01)	0.99 (0.96-1.02) ^a
Total MVPA time, increment per 10 min/day	0.96 (0.91-1.00)	0.97 (0.91-1.03) ^b	0.90 (0.84-0.96)**	$0.91 (0.84-0.99)^{*b}$
Sporadic MVPA, increment per 10 min/day	0.94 (0.86-1.03)	0.98 (0.87-1.11) ^b	$0.83 (0.73 - 0.95)^{*}$	0.86 (0.73-1.01) ^b
		$0.98 (0.87 - 1.11)^{c}$		$0.87 (0.74 - 1.02)^{c}$
Bouted MVPA, increment per 10 min/day	0.95 (0.89-1.01)	0.96 (0.90-1.03) ^b	$0.90 \left(0.82 \text{-} 0.99\right)^{*}$	0.92 (0.84-1.02) ^b
		$0.96 (0.90-1.03)^{c}$		$0.93 (0.85 - 1.02)^{c}$
Step, increment per 1000 step/day	0.94 (0.89-0.99)*	$0.95 (0.89-1.02)^{b}$	$0.88 \left(0.81 \text{-} 0.95\right)^{*}$	$0.89 (0.82 - 0.98)^{*b}$

FRAIL-J, Japanese FRAIL scale; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; Light Physical Activity; MVPA, Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity.

Model 1, adjusted for age, sex, education, living alone, drink and smoke status, polypharmacy, MoCA score, PSQI score, IADL, and wear time. Model 2, a, additional adjusted total MVPA time; b, additional adjusted total sedentary time; c, additional adjusted bouted MVPA and sporadic MVPA. *, *P*<0.05; **, *P*<0.01. n=819.



Figure 4. Receiver operating characteristic curves showing the optimal cut-off value of

PA variables to discriminate frailty and non-frailty defined by the FRAIL-J in Japanese

community-dwelling older adults. AUC, Area under the curve.



Figure 5. Receiver operating characteristic curves showing the optimal cut-off value of

PA variables to discriminate frailty and non-frailty defined by the FFPQ in Japanese

community-dwelling older adults. AUC, Area under the curve.

4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the associations between objectively measured patterns of SB, PA and frailty status screened by the FRAIL-J in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. We found that neither the total sedentary time nor SB patterns were associated with pre-frailty or frailty. Higher levels of total MVPA time, bouted MVPA, and steps were not associated with pre-frailty but associated with frailty. However, the association of LPA and sporadic MVPA with frailty was not observed. In addition, our results suggest that 43.25 min/day of total MVPA, 9.13 min/day of bouted MVPA, and 3841 steps/day of daily step represent the optimal cut-off value to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty. The main findings in this study provide evidence concerning how objective PA patterns are associated with frailty which might inform future feasible approaches to managing frailty in older Japanese adults.

The associations between total sedentary time, 10-min bout of sedentary time and frailty defined by both questionnaires found in the present study are consistent with some previous studies (Bastone Ade et al., 2015, Castaneda-Gameros et al., 2018, Jansen et al., 2015, Manas et al., 2018, Nagai et al., 2018) while several inconsistencies are still observed. In contrast to the previous studies (Blodgett et al., 2015a, Del Pozo-Cruz et al., 2017, Song et al., 2015), the present study showed that

total sedentary time was not associated with frailty. Moreover, although a previous study has reported an inverse association between 30-min bout of sedentary time and 46-item frailty index (FI) in females, no such negative association was observed in the present study (Kehler et al., 2019). The reasons for the discrepancies between these findings and our results are multifaceted. First, participant characteristics may contribute to the discrepancies. For example, the present study only recruited older adults aged 65-75 years, while previous studies also include older adults aged more than 75 years. Second, the different objective measures of SB might be another reason. The present study used a tri-axial accelerometer to assess SB, which may more accurate than a uni-axial accelerometer used in previous studies (Blodgett et al., 2015a, Kehler et al., 2018a, Song et al., 2015). Third, the heterogeneity of frailty assessments between the present study and previous studies might be an important reason contributes to the inconsistencies. Aguayo et al. (Aguayo et al., 2017) examined the agreement between 35 frailty instruments found that marked heterogeneity existed among various frailty instruments. The fourth possible reason is regarding adjustment variables. Different factors inputted in the regression model might affect the final results. For example, total MVPA time was added to the final model to determine the independency of total sedentary time, while some previous studies did not add it (Del Pozo-Cruz et al., 2017, Song et al., 2015). Last, the

inconsistencies also might be explained by lifestyle differences between Western counties and Japan. Since Japan is unique in its healthy Japanese food and environment and health insurance system, enhanced awareness about healthy aging among the general public and made some difference in frailty status than other counties. Just like the so-called Japanese smoking paradox that Japanese people smoke more but develop less lung cancer than other populations. In a recent study, Liao et al. also found an inconsistent association of objective SB with performancebased physical function between American and Japanese older adults might be caused by cultural differences (Liao et al., 2018). Thus, further studies should be conducted using a same method to assess SB and frailty to clarify the association between objective SB and frailty in different settings.

Although our results found that higher total MVPA time had an association with a reduction in frailty, the optimal cut-off value (43.25 or 51.63 min/day) in the present study was much higher than the previous study which found total MVPA time of at least 7.5 minutes per day can prevent frailty development among 401 older adults aged 65-82 years (Yuki et al. 2019). One reason why the discrepancy appears might be caused by the different methods of how to define the cut-off value (25th percentile vs ROC analysis). Another main reason might be because the sporadic MVPA which is an essential part of total MVPA time was not associated with frailty in the present

study. LPA could be relatively easier to perform for older adults than MVPA and recent guidelines also highlight the potential ability of LPA to benefit the health of older adults (Piercy, K. L., 2018). However, no significant association between LPA and frailty was observed in the present study. Actually, due to the lack of evidence, the recommendations of LPA such as time and frequency are still unclear, more studies are needed to determine the role and contribution of LPA alone or in combination with MVPA to health outcomes. A recent harmonized meta-analysis study observed non-linear, dose-response associations between PA variables and mortality, the maximal risk reductions for LPA (0.48, 0.38 to 0.63) was observed at 375 min/day, while at 24 min/day for MVPA (0.39, 0.26 to 0.59) (Ekelund, U., 2019). Therefore, according to the above evidence and our results, we considered that MVPA might be a much better choice than LPA for frailty management in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

In the present study, our results showed that sporadic MVPA was not associated with frailty defined by both questionnaires. This finding was opposed to a previous cross-sectional study from NHANES that demonstrated sporadic MVPA was associated with a 46-item frailty index (Kehler et al. 2018a). Although there has been an increasing number of studies demonstrated the positive associations between sporadic MVPA and adverse outcomes such as all-cause mortality and multimorbidity, a recent review found that there are still some studies found only bouted MVPA but not sporadic MVPA was positively associated with adverse outcomes such as incidence of obesity and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (Jakicic et al. 2019). An opposed result regarding the association between bouted MVPA and frailty was found between the FRAIL-J and FFPQ. Bouted MVPA was associated with frailty defined by the FRAIL-J after additional adjusted for total sedentary time and sporadic MVPA, while the association was not observed using the FFPQ. The main reason causing this result might be because of the inclusion of the inactivity item (dichotomous) in the FFPQ, which was assessed using a simple yes/no question: "Does your sitting or lying time account for 80% or more of your waking time?". Although our results showed that the inclusion of this item in the FFPQ partly increased its discriminating ability of SB (Table 4), it may decrease the discrimination of bouted MVPA. Further studies should be conducted to confirm these results. According to the results from the FRAIL-J, bouted MVPA might be more effective on frailty compared to sporadic MVPA. The benefits of sporadic MVPA positively impact health might be because of its contribution to adding total energy expenditure (Tremblay et al. 2007). Therefore, further study should be conducted to examine the effects of sporadic and bouted MVPA on adverse outcomes under the same total energy expenditure. The optimal cut-off value of bouted MVPA to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty defined by both questionnaires was 9.13 min/day, which suggests that lower amounts of bouted MVPA (e.g. 70 minutes per week), compared to the recommendation of the WHO, might be an achievable initial target in older adults.

As the basic component of PA, daily step is an easy-to-understand metric. A recent systematic primary literature review found that an inverse dose-response relationship of daily steps with important health outcomes, including all-cause mortality, cardiovascular events, and type 2 diabetes (Kraus et al., 2019). In the present study, our findings showed that higher daily steps were negatively associated with frailty defined by both questionnaires. The optimal cut-off value of step to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty was 3841 steps per day for the FRAIL-J and 3702 steps per day for the FFPQ, which was lower than the suggestion (5000 steps/day) of recently prospective study among Japanese older adults (Yuki et al. 2019). The discrepancy might be caused by the difference in study populations and statistical analyses such as the difference between 25th percentile and ROC analysis.

Taken together, our findings indicated that lower amounts of bouted MVPA and steps can also benefit the health of older adults. It is more achievable and feasible compared to the official recommendations that make it be an initial target for older adults. These interesting findings point out a potential intervention method that combines bouted MVPA and steps together. For example, do a 10 min walking of any speed inside or outside every day may be a simple but effective way to manage frailty. However, this value should be further confirmed among older adults in future intervention studies before these observations can be translated into public health guidelines.

There are some limitations to this study. One main limitation was the response bias which relates to the generalizability of the present findings. Participants in this study population were individuals 65 - 75 years old from just one southwest city in Japan and therefore it was not representative of the older Japanese population. In addition, the response rate was relatively low which could cause bias in interpreting the results since the participants that self-selected to participate in the study may be different from those who did not. For example, a healthier group might have been included in the present study because participants had to attend the community center for assessing physical and cognitive function. Moreover, the cross-sectional design of this study precludes the ability to examine the predictive ability to make causal inferences.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, our findings demonstrate a strong relationship between higher levels of total MVPA time, steps and frailty screened by the FRAIL-J and FFPQ. Lower amounts of bouted MVPA (70 min/week) or steps (4000 steps/day) may be achievable initial targets in older adults for frailty management. This evidence might inform the future of feasible approaches to managing frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

Chapter 4. Using the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire to assess the effects of an exercise intervention on frailty status in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (study 3)

1. Introduction

Frailty is a dynamic condition and frailty status can transit better or worsen over time (Lee et al., 2014). This characteristic of frailty presents an opening for potential preventative and restorative interventions. Recently, there is a growing body of studies to examine the effect of various types of interventions on frailty status. The exercise intervention was the most commonly used (Cesari et al., 2015, Chan et al., 2012, Jang et al., 2018, Kim et al., 2015, Luger et al., 2016, Nagai et al., 2018, Ng et al., 2015, Serra-Prat et al., 2017, Tarazona-Santabalbina et al., 2016) and has been proved as the most effective approach in reversing frailty although the detailed exercise program was not consistent (Kim et al., 2015, Ng et al., 2015). This reason may be because frailty is the result of the dysregulation of the well-tuned complex dynamical system of a resilient organism while exercise can simultaneously upregulate many systems that mutually regulate each other in combination make the whole organism could be returned to a higher functional level (Fried, 2016).

To date, among the frailty exercise intervention studies, almost all of the researches used the Fried Frailty Phenotype (FFP) to assess the frailty status might be because the FFP has a solid foundation of the biological theoretical basis (Fried et al., 2001, Xue et al., 2008). The rapid and accurate assessment of one exercise intervention effect on frailty at frequent intervals is necessary for frailty management. Despite the FFP was widely used in the intervention study and most of these studies demonstrated exercise could improve frailty status, it is still difficult to implement in large-scale intervention settings or evaluate at a frequent interval, as it requires objective measurement and population reference values that makes it impossible to selfevaluate. As a simpler alternative, the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (FFPQ) was a simple self-reported frailty screening instrument and specially designed for screening the FFP in the large-scale epidemiological settings. The reliability and validity of the FFPQ have been well-validated and demonstrated it could be used as a frailty screening instrument in Japanese community-dwelling older adults (Chen et al., 2019). However, it is unclear whether the FFPQ could be used as an instrument to assess the effect of a frailty intervention. Therefore, the purpose of the study was to evaluate whether the FFPQ could be used as an instrument to assess the effect of an exercise intervention on frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

2. Methods

2-1 Study design and participants

A single-group, pre-test, post-test design was utilized in the present study. The study population was recruited from the Itoshima Frail Study (IFS), a communitydwelling based prospective cohort aiming is to explore modifiable lifestyle factors causing/protecting against frailty (Chen et al., 2019). The FFP used in the IFS includes 5 components: shrinking, weakness, exhaustion, slowness, and low physical activity. The total score ranges from 0 to 5, participants scoring 3 to 5, 1 to 2, and 0 are designated frail, pre-frail and robust, respectively. Of the 949 older adults who participated in the whole assessment of the IFS, 388 (40.9%) and 22 (2.3%) of them were defined as pre-frailty and frailty by the FFP, respectively. A set of study information sheets detailing the aims, methods, and use of personal data were mailed to these older adults with pre-frailty or frailty that inviting them to community centers for the further multicomponent exercise intervention study. Of the above 410 individuals we contacted, 189 responded and volunteered as the participants in this study. Participants were assessed their physical condition by the doctor, and all of them were allowed to attend the multicomponent exercise. A 6-month series of 60 min/week multicomponent exercise was given to the 189 participants from September 16, 2018, to March 18, 2019. According to the purpose of this study, of the initial 189 participants, 77 individuals who did not meet the definition of the FFPQ, which also has five items directly to the definition of FFP (fatigue vs exhaustion, resistance vs weakness, ambulation vs slowness, inactivity vs low physical activity, and loss of weight vs shrinking) (Chen et al., 2019), were excluded from the analyses. Moreover, during the intervention, 8 individuals withdrew because of personal reasons. A

followed-up after the 6-months intervention was also conducted, and 16 individuals with missing accelerometer, physical, or other data of post-intervention were also excluded from the analyses (Figure 6). Finally, a total of 88 individuals (11 frail and 77 pre-frail defined by the FFPQ) with all valid data were included in the analyses. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Kyushu University, Japan. All participants provided written informed consent.



Figure 6. Flow chart of participation

2-2 Multicomponent exercise intervention

A set of a multicomponent exercise intervention program that has the potential to impact the functional performance measures was developed by substantially experienced instructors. This entire program consisted of 60 minutes of combined warm-up, resistance, balance, stretching, and deep breathing, which named "Itoshima Frail Preventive Gymnastics". The warm-up exercises including six motions such as wrist, shoulder, and knee rotation. After warm-up exercises, 24 combined resistance and balance motions from easier to advanced were given to all the participants. Considering the older adults with pre-frailty or frailty may have worse physical functions, in the first 12 weeks, almost all the motions began with seated exercises. For the subsequent 12-24 weeks, all the motions advanced to a standing pose without the chair and yoga mat. Stretching and deep breathing were also performed at the end of the program. Participants were supervised by instructors with substantial resistance experience, to ensure consistent, safe activity. These exercise intervention classes performed 4 days per week at three community centers in Itoshima city to ensure the older adults can participate in the intervention once a week during their free time. In addition to the exercise intervention class once a week, a 10-min short version of the "Itoshima Frail Preventive Gymnastics" also including warm-up, resistance and balance, and stretching exercises as homework which has been well introduced and trained in the intervention class were also asked to be done every day step by step. A notebook including log sheets every day and exercise instruction with detailed pictures and descriptions were also provided to encourage compliance with protocols.

2-3 Outcome measurements

Outcome measurements including (1) FFP (2) FFPQ (3) body mass index (BMI); (4) muscle mass was measured through a bioelectrical impedance analysis machine (MC-180, Tanita, Tokyo), appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASMM) was calculated as the sum of skeletal muscle in the arms and legs and the skeletal muscle mass index (SMMI) was defined as ASMM divided by body height in meters squared; (5) depression was measured using the 6-item Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6); (6) grip strength; (7) 5-time chair sit-to-stand test was measured using a stop watch, participants were asked to stand up from a sitting position and then to sit down 5 times as fast as possible; (8) gait speed, based on the time for a 5-meter walking test at one's maximum and normal walking speed; (9) open-eyed one-leg standing test (max=120sec); (10) regular physical activity including energy expenditure of physical activity (EEPA), total sedentary time (TST), light physical activity (LPA), moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA), and steps were objectively measured by a triaxial accelerometer (Active style Pro HJA-350IT, Omron, Kyoto, Japan), participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer for consecutive 7 days and to remove the accelerometer only before going to bed or water activities. Participants with ≥ 3 valid days in which a valid day was defined by wearing the tri-axial accelerometer for more than 600 minutes were eligible for analysis. The daily percentage of TST, LPA, and MVPA were calculated by dividing TST, LPA, and MVPA time by the wear time.

2-4 Statistical analysis

Descriptive data were summarized as means \pm standard deviation for continuous variables and frequency (percentage) for categorical variables. Comparisons of the characteristics between the excluded and included samples were used independentsample t-test for comparing means and Pearson x^2 for comparing proportions. The changes in health measurements before and after the multicomponent exercise intervention were examined by paired-samples t-test. The agreement of using the FFP and FFPQ to assess the effects of intervention was examined by Cohen's kappa test (0-0.20, slight; 0.21-0.40, fair; 0.41-0.60, moderate; 0.61-0.80, substantial; 0.81-1.00, almost perfect) (Landis and Koch, 1977). The coefficients of Spearman were calculated to evaluate the correlations between the score changes of each item and the changes of each measurement before and after the intervention. It was expected that the score changes of each item would show the highest correlation with the changes of its corresponding measurement. All the analyses were performed using SAS, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC), and the statistical significance level was set at $\alpha =$ 0.05 in two-sided tests.

3. Results

3-1 Baseline characteristics

The comparisons of the characteristics between the excluded and included samples in this study are shown in Table 10. Except for the K6 score, there was no significant difference between the excluded and included group regarding outcomes. The K6 score in the included group (5.56 ± 3.86) was significantly higher than that in the excluded group (4.11 ± 3.37) .

3-2 Intervention effects on outcomes measurements

The results of the comparison of overall outcomes measurements before and after the multicomponent exercise intervention are presented in Table 11. The exercise intervention was very effective in lowering the frailty score of the FFP and FFPQ. The difference value (95% confidence intervals, 95% CI) of the pre- and postintervention was -0.68 (-0.83, -0.54) and -0.73 (-0.95, -0.51), respectively. Except for the weakness in the FFP, and ambulation and inactivity in the FFPQ, other scores of the items in both instruments were significantly decreased after the intervention. As for the physical functions, 5-time chair sit-to-stand time, maximum and normal gait speed, and one-leg stand time were significantly improved with the intervention. However, grip strength did not show this improvement after intervention. We found an improvement in depression as the K6 score was significantly reduced. The exercise intervention did not change the EEPA and daily percentage of LPA, MVPA, and TST. Only steps per hour were increased by 62.5 (22.9, 102.1) after the intervention.

Moreover, exercise resulted in an increase in the BMI of participants but not increased the SMMI.

3-3 Agreement of using the FFP and FFPQ to assess the effect of the intervention

Table 12 shows the agreement of using the FFP and FFPQ to assess the effect of the intervention. A moderate Spearman correlation (rho=0.42) and fair agreement (kappa=0.35) of the intervention effect were found between the two instruments. Moreover, our results showed that 55.7 % (49 participants) for the FFP and 40.9 % (36 participants) for the FFPQ of the total sample, frailty was reversed (from pre-frail or frail to robust) after the exercise intervention.

<u>3-4 Correlations between the change of each item and outcome measurements</u>

Table 13 summarizes the correlations between the change of each item and the change of outcome measurements. The Spearman rank correlations ranged from -0.48 to 0.46 when correlating the change of each item with the change of outcome measurements. The item of exhaustion, weakness, slowness, and low physical activity in the FFP and the item of fatigue, resistance, and inactivity in the FFPQ could use to assess the effect of intervention since the change of each item showed the highest correlation with the changes of its corresponding measurements: exhaustion/fatigue was correlated with K6 score; weakness was correlated with the grip strength; resistance and slowness was correlated with gait speed; low physical activity and
inactivity was correlated with regular physical activity. Evidence for the item of shrinking in the FFP and ambulation and loss of weight in the FFPQ did not appear since no significant correlations were found between the change of these items and the changes of its corresponding measurements. Moreover, the change of total FFPQ score was correlated with the change of EEPA, daily percentage of MVPA, step, and K6 score, while the change of total FFP score was only correlated with the change of LPA.

Characteristics	Excluded, n=322	Included, n=88		
Characteristics	(Mean \pm SD) or n (%)	(Mean \pm SD) or n (%)	i value	
Age, year	71.4±3.2	71.0±3.4	0.37	
Gender, men	165 (51.2)	44 (50.0)	0.84	
BMI, kg/m ²	23.5±3.5	23.0±3.5	0.23	
SMMI, kg/m^2	7.08±1.21	6.92 ± 1.02	0.28	
Grip strength, kg	27.1±8.1	28.3±7.9	0.22	
5-time chair sit-to-stand, reps/second	1.96±0.65	1.90±0.64	0.44	
Maximum gait speed, m/second	0.57±0.11	0.56±0.11	0.18	
Normal gait speed, m/second	0.76±0.16	0.74±0.16	0.46	
One-leg standing, second	69.9±45.6	75.9±42.7	0.27	
EEPA, kcal/kg/hour	0.66±0.22	0.65±0.18	0.83	
Daily percentage of TST	54.5±14.2	56.0±12.7	0.37	
Daily percentage of LPA	39.7±11.6	38.7±11.0	0.46	
Daily percentage of MVPA	5.78±4.77	5.28±3.87	0.37	
Step, steps/hour	379.3±240.0	360.9±210.8	0.52	
K6 score, point	4.11±3.37	5.56±3.86	0.001	

 Table 11. Characteristics of the Total Sample

SD, Standard Deviation; BMI, Body Mass Index; SMMI, Skeletal Muscle Mass Index; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; LPA, Light Physical Activity; MVPA, Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity; K6, Kessler 6-item Psychological Distress Scale.

Characteristics	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Change (050/CI)	P value	
Characteristics	(Mean \pm SD)	$(Mean \pm SD)$	Change (95% CI)		
Frailty					
Total score FFP	1.30±0.51	0.61±0.76	-0.68 (-0.83, -0.54)	< 0.001	
FFPQ	1.58±0.74	0.85 ± 0.92	-0.73 (-0.95, -0.51)	< 0.001	
Exhaustion/Fatigue, score	0.47±0.50	0.11±0.32	-0.35 (-0.47, -0.23)	< 0.001	
Weakness, score	0.25±0.44	0.25±0.44	0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)	1.00	
Resistance, score	0.47±0.50	0.33±0.47	-0.14 (-0.24, -0.03)	0.010	
Slowness, score	0.10±0.30	0.00±0.00	-0. 10 (-0.17, -0.04)	0.002	
Ambulation, score	0.10±0.30	0.08±0.27	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.06)	0.57	
Low physical activity, score	0.24 ±0.43	0.14±0.35	-0.10 (-0.19, -0.01)	0.028	
Inactivity, score	0.31±0.46	0.20±0.41	-0.10 (-0.23, 0.03)	0.13	
Shrinking/Loss of weight, score	0.24 ±0.43	0.13±0.33	-0.11 (-0.22, -0.01)	0.041	
Body composition					
BMI, kg/m ²	23.0±3.5	23.2±3.4	0.24 (0.07, 0.42)	0.007	
SMMI, kg/m ²	6.92±1.02	6.96±1.00	0.04 (-0.03, 0.11)	0.22	
Physical function					
Grip strength, kg	28.3±7.9	28.3±7.8	0.01 (-0.51, 0.52)	0.98	
5-time chair sit-to-stand, reps/second	1.90±0.64	1.43±0.37	-0.47 (-0.58, -0.37)	< 0.001	
Maximum gait speed, m/second	0.56±0.11	0.55±0.09	-0.04 (-0.05, -0.02)	< 0.001	
Normal gait speed, m/second	0.74±0.16	0.68±0.11	-0.06 (-0.10, -0.03)	< 0.001	
One-leg standing, second	75.9±42.7	83.2±43.6	7.31 (0.42, 14.19)	0.038	
Regular physical activity					
EEPA, kcal/kg/hour	0.65±0.18	0.67±0.18	0.02 (-0.01, 0.05)	0.15	
Daily percentage of TST	56.0±12.7	55.4±11.2	-0.62 (-2.37, 1.13)	0.48	
Daily percentage of LPA	38.7±11.0	39.0±10.0	0.31 (-1.28, 1.89)	0.70	
Daily percentage of MVPA	5.28±3.87	5.59±4.30	0.31 (-0.36, 0.99)	0.36	
Step, steps/hour	360.9±210.8	423.4±265.1	62.5 (22.9, 102.1)	0.002	
Depression					
K6 score, point	5.56±3.86	4.47±3.14	-1.10 (-1.80, -0.38)	0.003	

Table 12. Comparisons of Measurements in Paired t-Test Pre- and Post-Intervention

SD, Standard Deviation; CI, Confidence Interval; FFP, Fried Frailty Phenotype; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire; BMI, Body Mass Index; SMMI, Skeletal Muscle Mass Index; K6, Kessler 6-item Psychological Distress Scale; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; LPA, Light Physical Activity; MVPA, Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity.

		FFP		T (1	<u> </u>	Kappa
	Decline	Maintain	Improvement	Total	Spearman rno	
FFPQ						
Decline	2	1	2	5		0.35*
Maintain	3	14	7	24	0.42*	
Improvement	1	15	43	59		
Total	6	30	52	88		

Table 13. Agreement of Using the FFP and FFPQ to Assess the Effect of Intervention

FFP, Fried Frailty Phenotype; FFPQ, Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire. *P<0.001.

Mearsurements -	Total score		Exhaustion/	Weekness	Desistence	Cloumaga	Ambulation	Low physical activity	Inactivity	Shrinking/
	FFP	FFPQ	Fatigue	weakness	Resistance Slowness	Loss of Weight				
BMI	-0.04	0.17	0.12	-0.29**	0.04	-0.01	0.04	0.19	0.14	-0.12
SMMI	-0.04	0.05	0.12	-0.10	0.02	0.17	0.08	-0.03	0.01	-0.05
Grip strength	-0.17	0.02	0.01	-0.48**	-0.16	-0.07	0.11	0.04	-0.01	0.07
5-time chair sit-to-stand	-0.07	0.05	0.02	-0.01	0.07	0.16	0.03	0.04	0.11	-0.05
Maximum gait speed	-0.21	0.08	-0.01	0.14	0.23*	0.32**	0.17	-0.10	-0.03	-0.001
Nonmal gait speed	-0.12	0.14	0.03	-0.04	0.19	0.30**	0.10	-0.16	0.05	0.03
One-leg standing	0.01	-0.06	-0.07	-0.03	-0.14	0.04	-0.05	-0.13	0.01	0.10
EEPA	-0.13	-0.29**	0.001	0.10	0.17	0.01	-0.14	-0.46**	-0.23*	0.08
Daily persentage of TST	0.18	0.17	-0.02	-0.05	0.07	-0.01	0.10	0.42**	0.16	-0.04
Daily persentage of LPA	-0.22*	-0.16	0.01	0.01	-0.04	-0.03	-0.13	-0.30**	-0.07	-0.04
Daily persentage of MVPA	-0.10	-0.31**	-0.01	0.04	-0.17	0.04	-0.07	-0.41**	-0.33**	0.08
Step	-0.11	0.22*	-0.04	0.05	-0.15	-0.02	-0.11	-0.44**	-0.22*	0.18
K6 score	0.19	0.23*	0.46**	-0.15	0.10	-0.04	-0.03	0.05	-0.01	-0.11

Table 14. Correlations between the Change of Each Item and Outcome Measurements

.

BMI, Body Mass Index; SMMI, Skeletal Muscle Mass Index; K6, Kessler 6-item Psychological Distress Scale; EEPA, Energy Expenditure of Physical Activity; TST, Total Sedentary Time; LPA, Light Physical Activity; MVPA, Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity.**P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01

4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that has evaluated the ability of the FFPQ as an instrument to assess the effect of a frailty intervention in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. In the present study, we found that a 6-month multicomponent exercise intervention program had an improved effect on frailty status defined by both FFP and FFPQ. Moreover, a fair agreement of the intervention effect was found between the two instruments indicated the potential ability of the FFPQ in assessing the effect of a frailty intervention. These findings suggest that the implementation of the FFPQ as an assessment instrument is feasible in a resourcelimited setting when the FFP cannot be evaluated.

Previous studies showed that a single intervention such as nutritional supplementation (Buigues et al., 2016, Kim et al., 2015) and reduce polypharmacy (Potter et al., 2016) could not significantly improve or reverse the frailty status. However, exercise offers an effective model of a single intervention in frailty with multisystem benefits. Our results showed that a 6-month exercise intervention decreased the total score of both instruments and the frailty status of 49 for the FFP and 36 for the FFPQ was reversed from pre-frailty or frailty to robust. These findings coincide with those published by Kim et al., Ng et al., and Tarazona et al., in which a reduction of frailty prevalence was found after a single exercise intervention although

the exercise program was different (Kim et al., 2015, Ng et al., 2015, Tarazona-Santabalbina et al., 2016). The mechanism resulting in this phenomenon might be because exercise simultaneously up-regulates many systems that mutually regulate each other in combination make the whole organism could be returned to a higher functional level. Moreover, a fair agreement (kappa=0.35) of the exercise intervention effect was found between the FFP and FFPQ indicated the potential ability of the FFPQ in assessing the effect of a frailty intervention. Interestingly, the change of total FFPQ score was correlated with the change of EEPA, daily percentage of MVPA, step, and K6 score, while the change of total FFP score was only correlated with the change of LPA. The reason for causing these results is unclear and further research is still necessary.

In contrast with the similar effects of exercise intervention on the frailty status defined by both instruments, the effects on the components of the FFP or FFPQ definition must be further considered. In the present study, two self-reported items of exhaustion and shrinking in the FFP was the same as the item of fatigue and loss of weight in the FFPQ. As for the exhaustion/fatigue, our results showed that exercise intervention resulted in a significant reduction in the score of these items might be caused by the improvement of the depression (K6 score). Moreover, a significant correlation was also found between the change of exhaustion/fatigue score and the

change of the K6 score. These results were consistent with a previous study, in which a reduction in the Yesavage Geriatric Depression Index was found after 6-month exercise intervention (Tarazona-Santabalbina et al., 2016), and indicated that exhaustion/fatigue can be appropriately used in evaluating the effects of an exercise intervention on frailty status. Although shrinking/loss of weight is one criterion included in the definition of frailty based on the FFP and FFPQ, it was considered not appropriate in evaluating the effects of intervention in a previous study (Kim et al., 2015). In the present study, our results found an increase in the BMI, however, no significant correlations were found between the change of shrinking/loss of weight and the change of BMI or SMMI which confirmed the finding from the previous study.

Three components of the FFP definition including weakness, slowness, and low physical activity are performance-based, while the self-reported components of resistance, ambulation, and inactivity in the FFPQ are corresponding one-to-one to those in the FFP, respectively. It is no doubt that the item of weakness, slowness, and low physical activity in the FFP could be used to assess the effect of intervention since these items are all based on objective measurements and the change of each item showed the highest correlation with the changes of its corresponding measurements. Despite exercise intervention was not improved the score of weakness, as well as the performance of the grip strength in the present study were consistent with previous study (Haider et al., 2017, Kim et al., 2015, Tieland et al., 2012), it does not mean exercise is not appropriate to use for improving muscle strength. The reason causing this in the present study might be because of the content of the exercise program. The "Itoshima Frail Preventive Gymnastics" mainly focuses on the lower body strength while grip strength is a measure of upper body strength. As for the items in the FFPQ, resistance was used to evaluate the lower body strength by participants' report on his/her capacity to climb stairs without using handrail or wall for support and ambulation were used to evaluate aerobic ability by participants' report on his/her capacity to walk 1 km without resting. Our results were as expected that the score change of the resistance was not correlated with the change of grip strength, but correlated with the change of maximum gait speed demonstrated its potential ability in assessing the effect of an intervention. However, no significant correlations were found between the change of ambulation and gait speed, as well as other measurements, indicated that this item was not appropriate in evaluating the effect of intervention. Although the exercise intervention in the present study did not improve the regular physical activity, the results showed that the change of inactivity was correlated with the change of EEPA, daily percentage of MVPA, and step demonstrated that this item is good enough to use as an assessment component on the

effect of an intervention. As a rapid assessment instrument, our results suggesting the FFPQ can be adopted in a large-scale setting or a resource-limited setting when the FFP cannot be evaluated, however, an elementary but important point is that the FFPQ cannot be expected to replace the FFP according to the results.

There are some limitations to this study. One main limitation was the design of this study. A number of threats such as attrition, un-blinded assessment, maturation, history, test effects, and regression effects cannot be controlled to the single group design maybe weaken the causal interpretation. Briefly, because random allocation was not used, the extent to which the differences might be caused by history, maturation, test or the regression artifact.

5. Conclusions

The FFPQ could be used as a rapid instrument to assess the effect of an exercise intervention on frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

Chapter 5. Overall discussion and conclusion

The primary purposes of this doctoral thesis were to develop and evaluate the reliability and validity of the Japanese FRAIL scale (FRAIL-J) and Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire (FFPQ), and to explore modifiable lifestyle factors either causing or protecting against frailty defined both questionnaires which might inform future feasible approaches to managing frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Accordingly, the present thesis had three objectives as follows: 1) to develop a Japanese FRAIL scale and tried to modify it to make the FRAIL scale more close to the Fried Frailty Phenotype (FFP), then to evaluate the reliability and validity of both questionnaire (Study 1); 2) to investigate the association between lifestyle factors, particularly the objectively daily physical activity, and frailty defined by the FRAIL scale (Study 2); 3) to examine whether the FRAIL scale can be used as a frailty assessment instrument (Study 3).

In the first study, we developed a FRAIL-J and an FFPQ and evaluated the reliability and validity of both questionnaires in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Overall, the results of this study showed that both questionnaires had low internal consistency, good test-retest reliability, acceptable construct validity, satisfactory diagnostic accuracy, and concurrent validity. In addition, a 2-point cut-off of both questionnaires or a 3-point cut-off of the FFPQ can be used as the first step for frailty screening in Japanese community-dwelling older adults.

The second study demonstrated that neither the sedentary behavior (SB) patterns nor sporadic moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) was associated with prefrailty or frailty defined by both questionnaires. Higher levels of total MVPA time and steps were not associated with pre-frailty but associated with frailty defined by both questionnaires. In addition, a significant association between bouted MVPA and frailty defined by the FRAIL-J was observed. Moreover, the 43.25 or 51.63 min/day of total MVPA, 9.13 min/day of bouted MVPA, and 3841 or 3702 steps/day of daily step were suggested as the optimal cut-off value to discriminate between frailty and non-frailty for the FRAIL-J and FFPQ, respectively. The main findings in this study provide evidence concerning how objective physical activity (PA) patterns are associated with frailty which might inform future feasible approaches to managing frailty in older Japanese adults.

In the third study, we found that a 6-month multicomponent exercise intervention program had an improved effect on frailty status defined by both FFP and FFPQ. Moreover, a fair agreement of the intervention effect was found between the two instruments indicated the potential ability of the FFPQ in assessing the effect of a frailty intervention. However, the item of ambulation and loss of weight in the FFPQ might not be appropriate in evaluating the effect of an exercise intervention. These findings suggest that the implementation of the FFPQ as an assessment instrument is feasible in a large-scale setting or a resource-limited setting when the FFP cannot be evaluated, while an elementary but important point is that the FFPQ cannot be expected to replace the FFP.

To sum up, findings from this thesis have several public health implications. For now, although no gold standard frailty instrument exists, the FRAIL-J or its modified version FFPQ can be considered a viable alternative in screening frailty in Japan. Compare to the more complex frailty instruments such as the FFP or Frailty Index (FI) that must evaluate some objective measurements, the FRAIL-J and FFPQ not only simple, time-saving, and self-reported but also have satisfactory reliability and validity make it can be used in a large-scale setting or a resource-limited setting at a frequent interval, for example, a nationwide survey of frailty once a year. This is very meaningful to the public health which makes the policymaker or healthcare expert can effectively formulate policies or guidelines to manage the frailty nationwide. In addition, findings from the study 2 showed that although some inconsistent characteristics of frailty status screened by both questionnaires still existed, irrespective of whether FRAIL-J or FFPQ was used to screen frailty status, participants with frailty showed lower MoCA score, higher PSQI score, shorter total MVPA time and bouted MVPA, lower daily steps, and have a higher ratio of polypharmacy. Physical activity is considered as an effective model of a single

intervention in frailty with multisystem benefits. Therefore, among these causing/protecting factors, we further analyzed the factors of objective daily physical activity. Our results demonstrated that lower amounts of bouted MVPA (10 min per day) or steps (4000 steps per day) may be achievable initial targets in older adults for frailty management. These interesting findings point out a potential intervention method that combines bouted MVPA and daily steps together. For example, do a 10 min walk inside or outside with a cadence of at least 100 steps per min every day may be a simple but effective way to manage frailty. However, this value should be further confirmed among older adults in future intervention studies before these observations can be translated into public health guidelines. In view of the findings of studies 1 and 2, despite both questionnaires had similar internal consistency, test-retest reliability, construct and concurrent validity, diagnostic accuracy, and causing/protecting factors, comparatively speaking, the FFPQ was more close to the FFP (instead of illness using inactivity) and more flexible (2 or 3 points as the cut-off) using in the communitydwelling older adults. As professional and structural deficiencies in the health care system in the developing nations which also face the aging, it is not easy for the older adults to know whether they have had several diseases will also limit its part feasibility. Thus, compared to the FRAIL-J, the FFPQ could potentially be adopted by developing countries having professional and structural deficiencies in the health care

system. Moreover, as for the ability of assessing the effect of an exercise intervention on frailty, the item of illness in the FRAIL-J is also inappropriate because a past illness cannot be reversed. Therefore, in study 3, only the FFPQ was selected to evaluate whether it could be used as an instrument to assess the effect of an exercise intervention on frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. The heartening findings showed that a fair agreement of the intervention effect was found between the FFP and FFPQ indicated the potential ability of the FFPQ in assessing the effect of a frailty exercise intervention.

Despite the implications mentioned above, this doctoral thesis also has several limitations worth noting. The main limitation to the studies 1 and 2 was the response bias which relates to the generalizability of the present findings. Participants in this study population were individuals 65 - 75 years old from just one southwest city in Japan and therefore it was not representative of the older Japanese population. In addition, the response rate was relatively low which could cause bias in interpreting the results since the participants that self-selected to participate in the study may be different from those who did not. Moreover, the cross-sectional design of the two studies precludes the ability to examine the causal inferences. Further nationwide prospective cohort study should be needed to examine the predictive ability of adverse outcomes using both FRAIL-J and FFPQ. The limitation to the study 3 was the

research design. Because random allocation was not used in study 3, the extent to which the differences might be caused by history, maturation, test or the regression artifact. Further randomized controlled trial study should be needed to confirm these findings.

In conclusion, this doctoral thesis reveals that the FRAIL-J and its modified version FFPQ have good test-retest reliability, acceptable construct and concurrent validity, and satisfactory diagnostic accuracy. Meanwhile, participants with frailty screened by both questionnaires showed similar causing/protecting factors. These findings make both questionnaires can be considered a viable alternative in frailty management. Moreover, the FFPQ was closer to the FFP and more flexible may be adopted by developing countries having professional and structural deficiencies in the health care system. More importantly, the heartening findings showed that the FFPQ can also use as an instrument in evaluating the effect of a frailty exercise intervention. To sum up the above findings, the application of the FFPQ in Japanese community healthcare can be systemized as following (Figure 7): first, the FFPQ will be used to screen the frailty status by mail or telephone among community-dwelling older adults aged 65 -75 years older; second, older adults with pre-frailty or frailty will be introduced to participate in an exercise intervention class that uses the "Itoshima Frail Preventive Gymnastics" as the main course; third, after a period of intervention (e.g. 6 months),

the FFPQ will be used to assess the frailty status once again among these older adults who participate in the intervention class. Older adults still with pre-frailty or frailty can continue to take part in intervention class, while older adults without pre-frailty or frailty can select other daily living support services.



Figure 7. The application of the Fried Frailty Phenotype Questionnaire in the healthcare system

References

- Abellan van Kan, G., Rolland, Y. M., Morley, J. E. and Vellas, B. (2008) Frailty: toward a clinical definition. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **9**, 71-72.
- Abizanda, P., Romero, L., Sanchez-Jurado, P. M., Atienzar-Nunez, P., Esquinas-Requena, J. L. and Garcia-Nogueras, I. (2012) Association between functional assessment instruments and frailty in older ddults: The FRADEA Study. *Journal* of Frailty Aging 1, 162-168.
- Aguayo, G. A., Donneau, A. F., Vaillant, M. T., Schritz, A., Franco, O. H., Stranges,
 S., Malisoux, L., Guillaume, M. and Witte, D. R. (2017) Agreement between 35
 published frailty scores in the general population. *American journal of epidemiology* 186, 420-434.
- Alonso Salinas, G. L., Sanmartin Fernandez, M., Pascual Izco, M., Martin Asenjo, R., Recio-Mayoral, A., Salvador Ramos, L., Marzal Martin, D., Camino Lopez, A., Jimenez Mena, M. and Zamorano Gomez, J. L. (2016) Frailty is a short-term prognostic marker in acute coronary syndrome of elderly patients. *European Heart Journal: Acute Cardiovascular Care* 5, 434-440.

Alonso Salinas, G. L., Sanmartin, M., Pascual Izco, M., Rincon, L. M., Martin-Acuna,
A., Pastor Pueyo, P., Del Val Martin, D., Marco Del Castillo, A., Recio-Mayoral,
A., Martin-Asenjo, R., Garcia-Guerrero, A., Caravaca-Perez, P., Camino Lopez,
A., Jimenez-Mena, M. and Zamorano, J. L. (2018) The role of frailty in acute
coronary syndromes in the elderly. *Gerontology* 64, 422-429.

- Alonso Salinas, G. L., Sanmartin, M., Pascual Izco, M., Rincon, L. M., Pastor Pueyo,
 P., Marco Del Castillo, A., Garcia Guerrero, A., Caravaca Perez, P., Recio-Mayoral, A., Camino, A., Jimenez-Mena, M. and Zamorano, J. L. (2017) Frailty is an independent prognostic marker in elderly patients with myocardial infarction. *Clinical Cardiology* 40, 925-931.
- Amabili, P., Wozolek, A., Noirot, I., Roediger, L., Senard, M., Donneau, A. F., Hubert, M. B., Brichant, J. F. and Hans, G. A. (2019) The Edmonton Frail Scale improves the prediction of 30-day mortality in elderly patients undergoing cardiac surgery: a prospective observational study. *Journal of Cardiothoracic* and Vascular Anesthesia 33, 945-952.
- Aprahamian, I., Cezar, N. O. C., Izbicki, R., Lin, S. M., Paulo, D. L. V., Fattori, A., Biella, M. M., Jacob Filho, W. and Yassuda, M. S. (2017a) Screening for frailty with the FRAIL scale: a comparison with the phenotype criteria. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **18**, 592-596.

- Aprahamian, I., Lin, S. M., Suemoto, C. K., Apolinario, D., Oiring de Castro Cezar, N., Elmadjian, S. M., Filho, W. J. and Yassuda, M. S. (2017b) Feasibility and factor structure of the FRAIL scale in older adults. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 18, 367 e311-367 e318.
- Arai, H. and Satake, S. (2015) English translation of the Kihon Checklist. *Geriatrics*& gerontology international 15, 518-519.
- Arai, H., Ouchi, Y., Toba, K., Endo, T., Shimokado, K., Tsubota, K., Matsuo, S., Mori, H., Yumura, W., Yokode, M., Rakugi, H. and Ohshima, S. (2015) Japan as the front-runner of super-aged societies: perspectives from medicine and medical care in Japan. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 15, 673-687.
- Avila-Funes, J. A., Amieva, H., Barberger-Gateau, P., Le Goff, M., Raoux, N., Ritchie, K., Carriere, I., Tavernier, B., Tzourio, C., Gutierrez-Robledo, L. M. and Dartigues, J. F. (2009) Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of the phenotype of frailty for adverse health outcomes: the three-city study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 57, 453-461.
- Avila-Funes, J. A., Helmer, C., Amieva, H., Barberger-Gateau, P., Le Goff, M., Ritchie, K., Portet, F., Carriere, I., Tavernier, B., Gutierrez-Robledo, L. M. and Dartigues, J. F. (2008) Frailty among community-dwelling elderly people in

France: the three-city study. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* **63**, 1089-1096.

- Bastone Ade, C., Ferriolli, E., Teixeira, C. P., Dias, J. M. and Dias, R. C. (2015) Aerobic fitness and habitual physical activity in frail and nonfrail communitydwelling elderly. *Journal of physical activity & health* **12**, 1304-1311.
- Bellettiere, J., LaMonte, M. J., Evenson, K. R., Rillamas-Sun, E., Kerr, J., Lee, I. M.,
 Di, C., Rosenberg, D. E., Stefanick, M., Buchner, D. M., Hovell, M. F. and
 LaCroix, A. Z. (2019) Sedentary behavior and cardiovascular disease in older
 women: The Objective Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Health (OPACH)
 Study. *Circulation* 139, 1036-1046.
- Bielderman, A., van der Schans, C. P., van Lieshout, M. R., de Greef, M. H., Boersma,
 F., Krijnen, W. P. and Steverink, N. (2013) Multidimensional structure of the
 Groningen Frailty Indicator in community-dwelling older people. *BMC Geriatrics*13, 86.
- Bilotta, C., Nicolini, P., Case, A., Pina, G., Rossi, S. and Vergani, C. (2012) Frailty syndrome diagnosed according to the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures (SOF) criteria and adverse health outcomes among community-dwelling older outpatients in Italy: a one-year prospective cohort study. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* **54**, e23-28.

- Blodgett, J., Theou, O., Kirkland, S., Andreou, P. and Rockwood, K. (2015a) The association between sedentary behaviour, moderate-vigorous physical activity and frailty in NHANES cohorts. *Maturitas* **80**, 187-191.
- Blodgett, J., Theou, O., Kirkland, S., Andreou, P. and Rockwood, K. (2015b) Frailty in NHANES: comparing the frailty index and phenotype. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* **60**, 464-470.
- Braun, T., Gruneberg, C. and Thiel, C. (2018) German translation, cross-cultural adaptation and diagnostic test accuracy of three frailty screening tools :
 PRISMA-7, FRAIL scale and Groningen Frailty Indicator. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 51, 282-292.
- Buta, B. J., Walston, J. D., Godino, J. G., Park, M., Kalyani, R. R., Xue, Q. L.,
 Bandeen-Roche, K. and Varadhan, R. (2016) Frailty assessment instruments:
 Systematic characterization of the uses and contexts of highly-cited instruments. *Ageing Research Reviews* 26, 53-61.
- Carneiro, F., Sousa, N., Azevedo, L. F. and Saliba, D. (2015) Vulnerability in elderly patients with gastrointestinal cancer--translation, cultural adaptation and validation of the European Portuguese version of the Vulnerable Elders Survey (VES-13). *BMC Cancer* **15**, 723.

- Castagneto, B., Di Pietrantonj, C., Stevani, I., Anfossi, A., Arzese, M., Giorcelli, L. and Giaretto, L. (2013) The importance of negative predictive value (NPV) of vulnerable elderly survey (VES 13) as a pre-screening test in older patients with cancer. *Medical Oncology* **30**, 708.
- Castaneda-Gameros, D., Redwood, S. and Thompson, J. L. (2018) Physical activity, sedentary time, and frailty in older migrant women from ethnically diverse backgrounds: a mixed-methods study. *Journal of aging and physical activity* **26**, 194-203.
- Castell, M. V., Sanchez, M., Julian, R., Queipo, R., Martin, S. and Otero, A. (2013) Frailty prevalence and slow walking speed in persons age 65 and older: implications for primary care. *BMC Family Practice* 14, 86.
- Chang, C. I., Chan, D. C., Kuo, K. N., Hsiung, C. A. and Chen, C. Y. (2011) Prevalence and correlates of geriatric frailty in a northern Taiwan community. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association* **110**, 247-257.
- Chang, S. F. and Lin, P. L. (2015) Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International journal of nursing studies* **52**, 1362-1374.
- Chen, S., Chen, T., Kishimoto, H., Susaki, Y. and Kumagai, S. (2020) Development of a Fried frailty phenotype questionnaire for use in screening community-

dwelling older adults. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 21, 272-276.e1.

- Chen, S., Honda, T., Chen, T., Narazaki, K., Haeuchi, Y., Supartini, A. and Kumagai, S. (2015) Screening for frailty phenotype with objectively-measured physical activity in a west Japanese suburban community: evidence from the Sasaguri Genkimon Study. *BMC Geriatrics*15, 36.
- Chen, T., Kishimoto, H., Honda, T., Hata, J., Yoshida, D., Mukai, N., Shibata, M., Ninomiya, T. and Kumagai, S. (2017) Patterns and levels of sedentary behavior and physical activity in a general Japanese population: The Hisayama Study. *Journal of epidemiology* 12, 1-6.
- Clegg, A., Rogers, L. and Young, J. (2015) Diagnostic test accuracy of simple instruments for identifying frailty in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review. *Age Ageing* **44**, 148-152.
- Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O. and Rockwood, K. (2013) Frailty in elderly people. *The Lancet* **381**, 752-762.
- Collard, R. M., Boter, H., Schoevers, R. A. and Oude Voshaar, R. C. (2012) Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* **60**, 1487-1492.

- Craig, C., Chadborn, N., Sands, G., Tuomainen, H. and Gladman, J. (2015) Systematic review of EASY-care needs assessment for community-dwelling older people. *Age Ageing* **44**, 559-565.
- Dallmeier, D., Braisch, U., Rapp, K., Klenk, J., Rothenbacher, D. and Denkinger, M. (2019) Frailty index and sex-specific six-year mortality in community dwelling older people the ActiFE Study. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*, in press.
- Dancey CP., Reidy J. (2007) Statistics without maths for psychology. Pearson Education.
- Murphy JM., Berwick DM., Weinstein MC. (1987) Performance of screening and diagnostic tests. Application of receiver operating characteristic analysis. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 44, 550–555.
- Davis, D. H., Rockwood, M. R., Mitnitski, A. B. and Rockwood, K. (2011) Impairments in mobility and balance in relation to frailty. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* **53**, 79-83.
- Del Pozo-Cruz, B., Manas, A., Martin-Garcia, M., Marin-Puyalto, J., Garcia-Garcia, F. J., Rodriguez-Manas, L., Guadalupe-Grau, A. and Ara, I. (2017) Frailty is associated with objectively assessed sedentary behaviour patterns in older adults:

Evidence from the Toledo Study for Healthy Aging (TSHA). *PLoS One* **12**, e0183911.

- Demougeot, L., van Kan, G. A., Vellas, B. and de Souto Barreto, P. (2013) Frailty detection with the Gerontopole Frailty Screening Tool (GFST). *Journal of Frailty & Aging* **2**, 150-152.
- Dent, E., Kowal, P. and Hoogendijk, E. O. (2016) Frailty measurement in research and clinical practice: A review. *European Journal of Internal Medicine* **31**, 3-10.
- Dent, E., Lien, C., Lim, W. S., Wong, W. C., Wong, C. H., Ng, T. P., Woo, J., Dong,
 B., de la Vega, S., Hua Poi, P. J., Kamaruzzaman, S. B. B., Won, C., Chen, L. K.,
 Rockwood, K., Arai, H., Rodriguez-Manas, L., Cao, L., Cesari, M., Chan, P.,
 Leung, E., Landi, F., Fried, L. P., Morley, J. E., Vellas, B. and Flicker, L. (2017)
 The Asia-Pacific clinical practice guidelines for the management of frailty. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 18, 564-575.
- Dent, E. and Perez-Zepeda, M. (2015) Comparison of five indices for prediction of adverse outcomes in hospitalised Mexican older adults: a cohort study. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* **60**, 89-95.
- Diaz de Leon Gonzalez, E., Gutierrez Hermosillo, H., Martinez Beltran, J. A., Chavez, J. H., Palacios Corona, R., Salinas Garza, D. P. and Rodriguez Quintanilla, K. A. (2016) Validation of the FRAIL scale in Mexican elderly: results from the

Mexican Health and Aging Study. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* **28**, 901-908.

- Diaz, K. M., Howard, V. J., Hutto, B., Colabianchi, N., Vena, J. E., Safford, M. M., Blair, S. N. and Hooker, S. P. (2017) Patterns of sedentary behavior and mortality in U.S. middle-aged and older adults: a national cohort study. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 167, 465-475.
- Dong, L., Liu, N., Tian, X., Qiao, X., Gobbens, R. J. J., Kane, R. L. and Wang, C.
 (2017) Reliability and validity of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator (TFI) among Chinese community-dwelling older people. *Archives of gerontology and* geriatrics 73, 21-28.
- Dong, L., Qiao, X., Tian, X., Liu, N., Jin, Y., Si, H. and Wang, C. (2018) Crosscultural adaptation and validation of the FRAIL scale in Chinese communitydwelling older adults. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **19**, 12-17.
- Ekelund, U., Tarp, J., Steene-Johannessen, J., Hansen, B. H., Jefferis, B., Fagerland,
 M. W., Whincup, P., Diaz, K. M., Hooker, S. P., Chernofsky, A., Larson, M. G.,
 Spartano, N., Vasan, R. S., Dohrn, I. M., Hagstromer, M., Edwardson, C., Yates,
 T., Shiroma, E., Anderssen, S. A. and Lee, I. M. (2019) Dose-response
 associations between accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary

time and all cause mortality: systematic review and harmonised meta-analysis. *BMJ* **366**, 14570.

- Ensrud, K. E., Ewing, S. K., Cawthon, P. M., Fink, H. A., Taylor, B. C., Cauley, J. A., Dam, T. T., Marshall, L. M., Orwoll, E. S. and Cummings, S. R. (2009) A comparison of frailty indexes for the prediction of falls, disability, fractures, and mortality in older men. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 57, 492-498.
- Ensrud, K. E., Ewing, S. K., Taylor, B. C., Fink, H. A., Stone, K. L., Cauley, J. A., Tracy, J. K., Hochberg, M. C., Rodondi, N. and Cawthon, P. M. (2007) Frailty and risk of falls, fracture, and mortality in older women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* **62**, 744-751.
- Esenkaya, M. E. and Dokuzlar, O. (2019) Validity of the Kihon Checklist for evaluating frailty status in Turkish older adults. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* **19**, 616-621.
- Fabricio-Wehbe, S. C., Schiaveto, F. V., Vendrusculo, T. R., Haas, V. J., Dantas, R. A. and Rodrigues, R. A. (2009) Cross-cultural adaptation and validity of the 'Edmonton Frail Scale - EFS' in a Brazilian elderly sample. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem* 17, 1043-1049.

- Fallon, A., Kilbane, L., Briggs, R., Dyer, A., Nabeel, S., McElwaine, P., Collins, R.,
 Coughlan, T., O'Neill, D., Ryan, D. and Kennelly, S. P. (2018) Screening for
 frailty in older emergency department patients: the utility of the Survey of Health,
 Ageing and Retirement in Europe Frailty Instrument. *QJM* 111, 151-154.
- Forti, P., Maioli, F., Zagni, E., Lucassenn, T., Montanari, L., Maltoni, B., Luca Pirazzoli, G., Bianchi, G. and Zoli, M. (2014) The physical phenotype of frailty for risk stratification of older medical inpatients. *Journal of nutrition, health & aging* 18, 912-918.
- Fougere, B., Sirois, M. J., Carmichael, P. H., Batomen-Kuimi, B. L., Chicoulaa, B., Escourrou, E., Nourhashemi, F., Oustric, S. and Vellas, B. (2017) General practitioners' clinical impression in the screening for frailty: data from the FAP study pilot. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **18**, 193.e191-193.e195.
- Freitag, S., Schmidt, S. and Gobbens, R. J. (2016) Tilburg frailty indicator. German translation and psychometric testing. *Zeitschrift für Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 49, 86-93.
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, A. B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., Seeman, T., Tracy, R., Kop, W. J., Burke, G. and McBurnie, M. A. (2001)

Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* **56**, M146-M157.

- Fukutomi, E., Okumiya, K., Wada, T., Sakamoto, R., Ishimoto, Y., Kimura, Y., Kasahara, Y., Chen, W. L., Imai, H., Fujisawa, M., Otuka, K. and Matsubayashi, K. (2013) Importance of cognitive assessment as part of the "Kihon Checklist" developed by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare for prediction of frailty at a 2-year follow up. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 13, 654-662.
- Garcia-Garcia, F. J., Carcaillon, L., Fernandez-Tresguerres, J., Alfaro, A., Larrion, J. L., Castillo, C. and Rodriguez-Manas, L. (2014) A new operational definition of frailty: the Frailty Trait Scale. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **15**, 371.e377-371.e313.
- Gobbens, R. J., Schols, J. M. and van Assen, M. A. (2017) Exploring the efficiency of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator: a review. *Clinical interventions in aging* **12**, 1739-1752.
- Gobbens, R. J. and van Assen, M. A. (2012) Frailty and its prediction of disability and health care utilization: the added value of interviews and physical measures following a self-report questionnaire. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* **55**, 369-379.

- Gobbens, R. J., van Assen, M. A., Luijkx, K. G., Wijnen-Sponselee, M. T. and Schols,J. M. (2010) The Tilburg Frailty Indicator: psychometric properties. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 11, 344-355.
- Greene, B. R., Doheny, E. P., O'Halloran, A. and Anne Kenny, R. (2014) Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test. *Age Ageing* **43**, 406-411.
- Hilmer, S. N., Perera, V., Mitchell, S., Murnion, B. P., Dent, J., Bajorek, B., Matthews, S. and Rolfson, D. B. (2009) The assessment of frailty in older people in acute care. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 28, 182-188.
- Honda, T., Chen, S., Yonemoto, K., Kishimoto, H., Chen, T., Narazaki, K., Haeuchi,Y. and Kumagai, S. (2016) Sedentary bout durations and metabolic syndrome among working adults: a prospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health* 16, 888.
- Hoogendijk, E. O., van der Horst, H. E., Deeg, D. J., Frijters, D. H., Prins, B. A., Jansen, A. P., Nijpels, G. and van Hout, H. P. (2013) The identification of frail older adults in primary care: comparing the accuracy of five simple instruments. *Age Ageing* 42, 262-265.
- Hoogendijk, E. O., van Kan, G. A., Guyonnet, S., Vellas, B. and Cesari, M. (2015) Components of the frailty phenotype in relation to the frailty index: results from

the Toulouse Frailty Platform. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association 16, 855-859.

- Hyde, Z., Flicker, L., Almeida, O. P., Hankey, G. J., McCaul, K. A., Chubb, S. A. and Yeap, B. B. (2010) Low free testosterone predicts frailty in older men: the health in men study.Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **95**, 3165-3172.
- Jakicic, J. M., Kraus, W. E., Powell, K. E., Campbell, W. W., Janz, K. F., Troiano, R.
 P., Sprow, K., Torres, A. and Piercy, K. L. (2019) Association between bout duration of physical activity and health: a systematic review. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 51, 1213-1219.
- Jang, I. Y., Jung, H. W., Lee, C. K., Jang, K. H., Cho, E. I., Jung, J. J., Park, E., Kim, J., Lee, Y. S., Lee, E. and Kim, D. H. (2017) Korean version of the FRAIL versus the modified KCL for frailty screening in community-dwelling older adults. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 17, 2046-2052.
- Jansen, F. M., Prins, R. G., Etman, A., van der Ploeg, H. P., de Vries, S. I., van Lenthe, F. J. and Pierik, F. H. (2015) Physical activity in non-frail and frail older adults. *PLoS One* **10**, e0123168.
- Jung, H. W., Yoo, H. J., Park, S. Y., Kim, S. W., Choi, J. Y., Yoon, S. J., Kim, C. H. and Kim, K. I. (2016) The Korean version of the FRAIL scale: clinical feasibility

and validity of assessing the frailty status of Korean elderly. *Korean Journal of Internal Medicine* **31**, 594-600.

- Kehler, D. S., Clara, I., Hiebert, B., Stammers, A. N., Hay, J. L., Schultz, A., Arora, R.
 C., Tangri, N. and Duhamel, T. A. (2018a) The association between bouts of moderate to vigorous physical activity and patterns of sedentary behavior with frailty. *Experimental gerontology* **104**, 28-34.
- Kehler, D. S., Hay, J. L., Stammers, A. N., Hamm, N. C., Kimber, D. E., Schultz, A.
 S. H., Szwajcer, A., Arora, R. C., Tangri, N. and Duhamel, T. A. (2018b) A systematic review of the association between sedentary behaviors with frailty. *Experimental gerontology* **114**, 1-12.
- Kehler, D. S. and Theou, O. (2019) The impact of physical activity and sedentary behaviors on frailty levels. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* **180**, 29-41.
- Kehler, D. S., Clara, I., Hiebert, B., Stammers, A. N., Hay, J. L., Schultz, A., Arora, R. C., Tangri, N. and Duhamel, T. A. (2019) Sex-differences in relation to the association between patterns of physical activity and sedentary behavior with frailty. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics*, in press.
- Kera, T., Kawai, H., Yoshida, H., Hirano, H., Kojima, M., Fujiwara, Y., Ihara, K. and Obuchi, S. (2017) Classification of frailty using the Kihon Checklist: a cluster

analysis of older adults in urban areas. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* **17**, 69-77.

- Kojima, G. (2015) Frailty as a predictor of future falls among community-dwelling older People: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **16**, 1027-1033.
- Kojima, G. (2016) Frailty as a predictor of hospitalisation among communitydwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of epidemiology and community health* **70**, 722-729.
- Kojima, G., Iliffe, S., Taniguchi, Y., Shimada, H., Rakugi, H. and Walters, K. (2017)
 Prevalence of frailty in Japan: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of epidemiology* 27, 347-353.
- Kojima, G., Taniguchi, Y., Iliffe, S. and Walters, K. (2016) Frailty as a predictor of Alzheimer disease, vascular dementia, and all dementia among communitydwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **17**, 881-888.
- Kraus, W. E., Janz, K. F., Powell, K. E., Campbell, W. W., Jakicic, J. M., Troiano, R.
 P., Sprow, K., Torres, A. and Piercy, K. L. (2019) Daily step counts for measuring physical activity exposure and its relation to health. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 51, 1206-1212.
- Kuder GF, Richardson MW. (1937) The theory of the estimation of test reliability. *Psychometrika* **2**, 151-160.
- Landis JR, Koch GG. (1977) The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*, **33**, 159-174.
- Lee, J. S., Auyeung, T. W., Leung, J., Kwok, T. and Woo, J. (2014) Transitions in frailty states among community-living older adults and their associated factors. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **15**, 281-286.
- Liao, Y., Hsu, H. H., Shibata, A., Ishii, K., Koohsari, M. J. and Oka, K. (2018) Associations of total amount and patterns of objectively measured sedentary behavior with performance-based physical function. *Preventive Medicine Reports* **12**, 128-134.
- Luciani, A., Biganzoli, L., Colloca, G., Falci, C., Castagneto, B., Floriani, I., Battisti, N., Dottorini, L., Ferrari, D., Fiduccia, P., Zafarana, E., Del Monte, F., Galli, F., Monfardini, S. and Foa, P. (2015) Estimating the risk of chemotherapy toxicity in older patients with cancer: The role of the Vulnerable Elders Survey-13 (VES-13). *Journal of Geriatric Oncology* 6, 272-279.
- Makizako, H. (2017) Impact of physical frailty on disability in community-dwelling older adults a prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open* **5**, e008462.

- Malmstrom, T. K., Miller, D. K. and Morley, J. E. (2014) A comparison of four frailty models. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* **62**, 721-726.
- Manas, A., Del Pozo-Cruz, B., Guadalupe-Grau, A., Marin-Puyalto, J., Alfaro-Acha,
 A., Rodriguez-Manas, L., Garcia-Garcia, F. J. and Ara, I. (2018) Reallocating accelerometer-assessed sedentary time to light or moderate- to vigorous-intensity physical activity reduces frailty levels in older adults: an isotemporal substitution approach in the TSHA Study. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 19, 185 e181-185 e186.
- McDonagh, J., Salamonson, Y., Ferguson, C., Prichard, R., Jha, S. R., Macdonald, P. S., Davidson, P. M. and Newton, P. J. (2019) Evaluating the convergent and discriminant validity of three versions of the frailty phenotype in heart failure: results from the FRAME-HF study. *Journal of Geriatric Oncology*, in press.
- Metz, C. E. (1978) Basic principles of ROC analysis. Semin Nucl Med 8, 283-298.
- Metzelthin, S. F., Daniels, R., van Rossum, E., de Witte, L., van den Heuvel, W. J. and Kempen, G. I. (2010) The psychometric properties of three self-report screening instruments for identifying frail older people in the community. *BMC Public Health* 10, 176.
- Mitnitski, A. B., Mogilner, A. J. and Rockwood, K. (2001) Accumulation of deficits as a proxy measure of aging. *Scientific World Journal* **1**, 323-336.

- Morley, J. E., Malmstrom, T. K. and Miller, D. K. (2012) A simple frailty questionnaire (FRAIL) predicts outcomes in middle aged African Americans. *Journal of nutrition, health & aging* **16**, 601-608.
- Morley, J. E., Vellas, B., van Kan, G. A., Anker, S. D., Bauer, J. M., Bernabei, R., Cesari, M., Chumlea, W. C., Doehner, W., Evans, J., Fried, L. P., Guralnik, J. M., Katz, P. R., Malmstrom, T. K., McCarter, R. J., Gutierrez Robledo, L. M., Rockwood, K., von Haehling, S., Vandewoude, M. F. and Walston, J. (2013)
 Frailty consensus: a call to action. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 14, 392-397.
- Mossello, E., Profili, F., Di Bari, M., Bandinelli, S., Razzanelli, M., Salvioni, A., Corridori, C., Di Fiandra, T. and Francesconi, P. (2016) Postal screening can identify frailty and predict poor outcomes in older adults: longitudinal data from INTER-FRAIL study. *Age Ageing* **45**, 469-474.
- Mulasso, A., Roppolo, M., Gobbens, R. J. and Rabaglietti, E. (2016) The Italian version of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator: analysis of psychometric properties. *Research on Aging* **38**, 842-863.
- Nagai, K., Tamaki, K., Kusunoki, H., Wada, Y., Tsuji, S., Ito, M., Sano, K., Amano, M., Shimomura, S. and Shinmura, K. (2018) Isotemporal substitution of

sedentary time with physical activity and its associations with frailty status. *Clinical interventions in aging* **13**, 1831-1836.

- National Cancer Institute: SAS programs for analyzing NHANES 2003-2004 accelerometer data (online material). Available from URL: http://appliedresearch.cancer.gov/nhanes_pam/ [Accessed 17 Nov 2015].
- National Institute of Population and Social Security Research (Japan), Population & household projection, population projection for Japan: 2011-2060, summary of population trends [homepage on the Internet]; c2012. Available from: http://www.ipss.go.jp/site-ad/index_english/esuikei/econ2.html.
- O'Caoimh, R. and Costello, M. (2019) Comparison of Frailty Screening Instruments in the Emergency Department. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* **16**, in press.
- Ogawa, K., Fujiwara, Y., Yoshida, H., Nishi, M., Fukaya, T., Kim, M., Amano, H., Lee, S., Watanabe, N. and Shinkai, S. (2011) The validity of the "Kihon Check-list" as an index of frailty and its biomarkers and inflammatory markers in elderly people. *Nihon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi* **48**, 545-552.
- Ohkawara, K., Oshima, Y., Hikihara, Y., Ishikawa-Takata, K., Tabata, I. and Tanaka, S. (2011) Real-time estimation of daily physical activity intensity by a triaxial

accelerometer and a gravity-removal classification algorithm. *The British journal of nutrition* **105**, 1681-1691.

- Peters, L. L., Boter, H., Burgerhof, J. G., Slaets, J. P. and Buskens, E. (2015) Construct validity of the Groningen Frailty Indicator established in a large sample of home-dwelling elderly persons: evidence of stability across age and gender. *Experimental gerontology* **69**, 129-141.
- Peters, L. L., Boter, H., Buskens, E. and Slaets, J. P. (2012) Measurement properties of the Groningen Frailty Indicator in home-dwelling and institutionalized elderly people. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **13**, 546-551.
- Petty, D. R., House, A., Knapp, P., Raynor, T. and Zermansky, A. (2006) Prevalence, duration and indications for prescribing of antidepressants in primary care. *Age Ageing* **35**, 523-526.
- Piercy, K. L., Troiano, R. P., Ballard, R. M., Carlson, S. A., Fulton, J. E., Galuska, D.
 A., George, S. M. and Olson, R. D. (2018) The physical activity guidelines for Americans. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 320, 2020-2028.
- Pijpers, E., Ferreira, I., van de Laar, R. J., Stehouwer, C. D. and Nieuwenhuijzen Kruseman, A. C. (2009) Predicting mortality of psychogeriatric patients: a simple prognostic frailty risk score. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 85, 464-469.

- Raiche, M., Hebert, R. and Dubois, M. F. (2008) PRISMA-7: a case-finding tool to identify older adults with moderate to severe disabilities. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* **47**, 9-18.
- Ravindrarajah, R., Lee, D. M., Pye, S. R., Gielen, E., Boonen, S., Vanderschueren, D.,
 Pendleton, N., Finn, J. D., Tajar, A., O'Connell, M. D., Rockwood, K., Bartfai,
 G., Casanueva, F. F., Forti, G., Giwercman, A., Han, T. S., Huhtaniemi, I. T.,
 Kula, K., Lean, M. E., Punab, M., Wu, F. C. and O'Neill, T. W. (2013) The
 ability of three different models of frailty to predict all-cause mortality: results
 from the European Male Aging Study (EMAS). *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 57, 360-368.
- Rockwood, K. and Mitnitski, A. (2006) Limits to deficit accumulation in elderly people. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* **127**, 494-496.
- Rockwood, K., Song, X., MacKnight, C., Bergman, H., Hogan, D. B., McDowell, I. and Mitnitski, A. (2005) A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* **173**, 489-495.
- Rolfson, D. B., Majumdar, S. R., Tsuyuki, R. T., Tahir, A. and Rockwood, K. (2006) Validity and reliability of the Edmonton Frail Scale. *Age Ageing* **35**, 526-529.
- Romero-Ortuno, R. (2011) The Frailty Instrument of the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE-FI) predicts mortality beyond age,

comorbidities, disability, self-rated health, education and depression. *European Geriatric Medicine* **2**, 323-326.

- Romero-Ortuno, R. (2013) The SHARE operationalized frailty phenotype: a comparison of two approaches. *European Geriatric Medicine* **4**, 1-10.
- Romero-Ortuno, R. and Kenny, R. A. (2012) The frailty index in Europeans: association with age and mortality. *Age Ageing* **41**, 684-689.
- Romero-Ortuno, R., O'Shea, D. and Kenny, R. A. (2011) The SHARE frailty instrument for primary care predicts incident disability in a European population-based sample. *Quality in primary care* **19**, 301-309.
- Romero-Ortuno, R. and Soraghan, C. (2014) A Frailty Instrument for primary care for those aged 75 years or more: findings from the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe, a longitudinal population-based cohort study (SHARE-FI75+). *BMJ Open* **4**, e006645.
- Romero-Ortuno, R., Walsh, C. D., Lawlor, B. A. and Kenny, R. A. (2010) A frailty instrument for primary care: findings from the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE). *BMC Geriatrics***10**, 57.
- Rosas-Carrasco, O., Cruz-Arenas, E., Parra-Rodriguez, L., Garcia-Gonzalez, A. I., Contreras-Gonzalez, L. H. and Szlejf, C. (2016) Cross-cultural adaptation and

validation of the FRAIL scale to assess frailty in Mexican adults. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **17**, 1094-1098.

- Saliba, D., Elliott, M., Rubenstein, L. Z., Solomon, D. H., Young, R. T., Kamberg, C.
 J., Roth, C., MacLean, C. H., Shekelle, P. G., Sloss, E. M. and Wenger, N. S.
 (2001) The Vulnerable Elders Survey: a tool for identifying vulnerable older people in the community. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 49, 1691-1699.
- Sampaio, P. Y., Sampaio, R. A., Yamada, M., Ogita, M. and Arai, H. (2015) Comparison of frailty among Japanese, Brazilian Japanese descendants and Brazilian community-dwelling older women. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* **15**, 762-769.
- Santiago, L. M., Luz, L. L., Mattos, I. E., Gobbens, R. J. and van Assen, M. A. (2013) Psychometric properties of the Brazilian version of the Tilburg frailty indicator (TFI). Archives of gerontology and geriatrics 57, 39-45.
- Satake, S., Senda, K., Hong, Y. J., Miura, H., Endo, H., Sakurai, T., Kondo, I. and Toba, K. (2016) Validity of the Kihon Checklist for assessing frailty status. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* **16**, 709-715.

- Satake, S., Shimokata, H., Senda, K., Kondo, I., Arai, H. and Toba, K. (2019) Predictive ability of seven domains of the Kihon Checklist for incident dependency and mortality. *Journal of Frailty & Aging* 8, 85-87.
- Satake, S., Shimokata, H., Senda, K., Kondo, I. and Toba, K. (2017) Validity of total Kihon Checklist score for predicting the incidence of 3-year dependency and mortality in a community-dwelling older population. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 18, 552.e551-552.e556.
- Savva, G. M., Donoghue, O. A., Horgan, F., O'Regan, C., Cronin, H. and Kenny, R. A.
 (2013) Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*68, 441-446.
- Schoon, Y., Bongers, K., Van Kempen, J., Melis, R. and Olde Rikkert, M. (2014) Gait speed as a test for monitoring frailty in community-dwelling older people has the highest diagnostic value compared to step length and chair rise time. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine* **50**, 693-701.
- Schuurmans H., Steverink N., Lindenberg S., Frieswijk N. (2004) Slaets JP. Old or frail: what tells us more? *Journals of Gerontology Series A Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences **59**, M962-M965.

- Searle, S. D., Mitnitski, A., Gahbauer, E. A., Gill, T. M. and Rockwood, K. (2008) A standard procedure for creating a frailty index. *BMC Geriatrics***8**, 24.
- Sewo Sampaio, P. Y., Sampaio, R. A., Yamada, M., Ogita, M. and Arai, H. (2014) Validation and translation of the Kihon Checklist (frailty index) into Brazilian Portuguese. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* **14**, 561-569.
- Shinkai, S., Watanabe, N., Yoshida, H., Fujiwara, Y., Amano, H., Lee, S., Nishi, M. and Tsuchiya, Y. (2010) Research on screening for frailty: development of "the Kaigo-Yobo Checklist". *Nihon Koshu Eisei Zasshi* 57, 345-354.
- Shrout PE., Fleiss JL. (1979) Intraclass correlations: uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychological Bulletin* **86**, 420-428.
- Song, J., Lindquist, L. A., Chang, R. W., Semanik, P. A., Ehrlich-Jones, L. S., Lee, J., Sohn, M. W. and Dunlop, D. D. (2015) Sedentary behavior as a risk factor for physical frailty independent of moderate activity: results from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *American journal of public health* 105, 1439-1445.
- Song, X., Mitnitski, A. and Rockwood, K. (2010) Prevalence and 10-year outcomes of frailty in older adults in relation to deficit accumulation. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* **58**, 681-687.
- Soysal, P., Veronese, N., Thompson, T., Kahl, K. G., Fernandes, B. S., Prina, A. M., Solmi, M., Schofield, P., Koyanagi, A., Tseng, P. T., Lin, P. Y., Chu, C. S.,

Cosco, T. D., Cesari, M., Carvalho, A. F. and Stubbs, B. (2017) Relationship between depression and frailty in older adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Ageing Research Reviews* **36**, 78-87.

- Steverink N., Slaets JP., Schuurmans H., van Lis M. (2001) Measuring frailty: development and testing of the Groningen Frailty Indicator (GFI). *Gerontologist* 41, 236-237.
- Susanto, M., Hubbard, R. E. and Gardiner, P. A. (2018) Validity and responsiveness of the FRAIL scale in middle-aged women. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **19**, 65-69.
- Sutorius, F. L., Hoogendijk, E. O., Prins, B. A. and van Hout, H. P. (2016) Comparison of 10 single and stepped methods to identify frail older persons in primary care: diagnostic and prognostic accuracy. *BMC Family Practice* **17**, 102.
- Sutton, J. L., Gould, R. L., Daley, S., Coulson, M. C., Ward, E. V., Butler, A. M., Nunn, S. P. and Howard, R. J. (2016) Psychometric properties of multicomponent tools designed to assess frailty in older adults: A systematic review. *BMC Geriatrics*16, 55.
- Theou, O., Blodgett, J. M., Godin, J. and Rockwood, K. (2017) Association between sedentary time and mortality across levels of frailty. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 189, E1056-E1064.

- Theou, O., Brothers, T. D., Mitnitski, A. and Rockwood, K. (2013a) Operationalization of frailty using eight commonly used scales and comparison of their ability to predict all-cause mortality. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* **61**, 1537-1551.
- Theou, O., Brothers, T. D., Rockwood, M. R., Haardt, D., Mitnitski, A. and Rockwood, K. (2013b) Exploring the relationship between national economic indicators and relative fitness and frailty in middle-aged and older Europeans. *Age Ageing* **42**, 614-619.
- Theou, O., Cann, L., Blodgett, J., Wallace, L. M., Brothers, T. D. and Rockwood, K. (2015) Modifications to the frailty phenotype criteria: systematic review of the current literature and investigation of 262 frailty phenotypes in the Survey of Health, Ageing, and Retirement in Europe. *Ageing Research Reviews* 21, 78-94.
- Topcu, Y., Tufan, F. and Kilic, C. (2019) Turkish version of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator. *Clinical interventions in aging* **14**, 615-620.
- Uchmanowicz, I., Jankowska-Polanska, B., Uchmanowicz, B., Kowalczuk, K. and Gobbens, R. J. (2016) Validity and reliability of the polish version of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator (TFI). *Journal of Frailty & Aging* **5**, 27-32.
- van Assen, M. A., Pallast, E., Fakiri, F. E. and Gobbens, R. J. (2016) Measuring frailty in Dutch community-dwelling older people: Reference values of the

Tilburg Frailty Indicator (TFI). Archives of gerontology and geriatrics **67**, 120-129.

- Vellas, B., Balardy, L., Gillette-Guyonnet, S., Abellan Van Kan, G., Ghisolfi-Marque,
 A., Subra, J., Bismuth, S., Oustric, S. and Cesari, M. (2013) Looking for frailty
 in community-dwelling older persons: the Gerontopole Frailty Screening Tool
 (GFST). *Journal of nutrition, health & aging* 17, 629-631.
- Vermeiren, S., Vella-Azzopardi, R., Beckwee, D., Habbig, A. K., Scafoglieri, A., Jansen, B. and Bautmans, I. (2016) Frailty and the prediction of negative health outcomes: a meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 17, 1163 e1-1163 e17.
- Vermeulen, J. (2011) Predicting ADL disability in community-dwelling elderly people using physical frailty indicators a systematic review. *BMC Geriatrics* **11**, 1-11.
- Veronese, N., Cereda, E., Stubbs, B., Solmi, M., Luchini, C., Manzato, E., Sergi, G.,
 Manu, P., Harris, T., Fontana, L., Strandberg, T., Amieva, H., Dumurgier, J.,
 Elbaz, A., Tzourio, C., Eicholzer, M., Rohrmann, S., Moretti, C., D'Ascenzo, F.,
 Quadri, G., Polidoro, A., Lourenco, R. A., Moreira, V. G., Sanchis, J., Scotti, V.,
 Maggi, S. and Correll, C. U. (2017) Risk of cardiovascular disease morbidity and

mortality in frail and pre-frail older adults: Results from a meta-analysis and exploratory meta-regression analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews* **35**, 63-73.

- Vrotsou, K., Machon, M., Rivas-Ruiz, F., Carrasco, E., Contreras-Fernandez, E., Mateo-Abad, M., Guell, C. and Vergara, I. (2018) Psychometric properties of the Tilburg Frailty Indicator in older Spanish people. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 78, 203-212.
- Wallace, L. M., Theou, O., Pena, F., Rockwood, K. and Andrew, M. K. (2015) Social vulnerability as a predictor of mortality and disability: cross-country differences in the survey of health, aging, and retirement in Europe (SHARE). *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 27, 365-372.
- Walston, J., Hadley, E. C., Ferrucci, L., Guralnik, J. M., Newman, A. B., Studenski, S. A., Ershler, W. B., Harris, T. and Fried, L. P. (2006) Research agenda for frailty in older adults: toward a better understanding of physiology and etiology: summary from the American Geriatrics Society/National Institute on Aging Research Conference on Frailty in Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 54, 991-1001.
- WHO. (2010) WHO Guidelines approved by the Guidelines Review Committee.Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Geneva: World HealthOrganization, Copyright (c) World Health Organization 2010.

- Woo, J., Leung, J. and Morley, J. E. (2012) Comparison of frailty indicators based on clinical phenotype and the multiple deficit approach in predicting mortality and physical limitation. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* **60**, 1478-1486.
- Woo, J., Yu, R., Wong, M., Yeung, F. and Lum, C. (2015) Frailty screening in the community using the FRAIL scale. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 16, 412-419.
- World Population Prospects: the 2017 revision. New York: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division; 2017. Available from: https://population.un.org/wpp
- Xiang, W., Cheng, Y., Li, Z., Han, J. and Li, K. (2019) Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Groningen Frailty Indicator in Chinese nursing home residents. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research, in press.
- Xue, Q. L., Bandeen-Roche, K., Varadhan, R., Zhou, J. and Fried, L. P. (2008) Initial manifestations of frailty criteria and the development of frailty phenotype in the Women's Health and Aging Study II. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* **63**, 984-990.
- Yamada, Y., Nanri, H., Watanabe, Y., Yoshida, T., Yokoyama, K., Itoi, A., Date, H., Yamaguchi, M., Miyake, M., Yamagata, E., Tamiya, H., Nishimura, M., Fujibayashi, M., Ebine, N., Yoshida, M., Kikutani, T., Yoshimura, E., Ishikawa-

Takata, K., Yamada, M., Nakaya, T., Yoshinaka, Y., Fujiwara, Y., Arai, H. and Kimura, M. (2017) Prevalence of frailty assessed by Fried and Kihon Checklist indexes in a prospective cohort study: design and demographics of the Kyoto-Kameoka Longitudinal Study. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* **18**, 733 e737-733 e715.

- Yaman, H. and Unal, Z. (2018) The validation of the PRISMA-7 questionnaire in community-dwelling elderly people living in Antalya, Turkey. *Electron Physician* 10, 7266-7272.
- Yang, L., Jiang, Y., Xu, S., Bao, L. and Parker, D. (2018) Evaluation of frailty status among older people living in urban communities by Edmonton Frail Scale in Wuhu, China: a cross-sectional study. *Contemporary Nurse* 54, 630-639.
- Zhang, S., Meng, H., Chen, Q., Wang, X., Zou, J., Hao, Q., Yang, M. and Wu, J. (2019) Is frailty a prognostic factor for adverse outcomes in older patients with acute coronary syndrome? *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, in press.